Indiana State University Sycamore Scholars

All-Inclusive List of Electronic Theses and Dissertations

2013

An Experiment To Assess The Utilization Of Adaptive Control Technology On A Cnc Lathe To Reduce Energy Consumption During Machining: A Step Towards Environmentally Conscious Manufacturing

Dean L. Bartles Indiana State University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholars.indianastate.edu/etds

Recommended Citation

Bartles, Dean L., "An Experiment To Assess The Utilization Of Adaptive Control Technology On A Cnc Lathe To Reduce Energy Consumption During Machining: A Step Towards Environmentally Conscious Manufacturing" (2013). *All-Inclusive List of Electronic Theses and Dissertations*. 1343. https://scholars.indianastate.edu/etds/1343

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by Sycamore Scholars. It has been accepted for inclusion in All-Inclusive List of Electronic Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Sycamore Scholars. For more information, please contact dana.swinford@indstate.edu.

AN EXPERIMENT TO ASSESS THE UTILIZATION OF ADAPTIVE CONTROL TECHNOLOGY ON A CNC LATHE TO REDUCE ENERGY CONSUMPTION DURING MACHINING: A STEP TOWARDS ENVIRONMENTALLY CONSCIOUS

MANUFACTURING

A Dissertation

Presented to

The College of Graduate and Professional Studies

College of Technology

Indiana State University

Terre Haute, Indiana

In Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree

Doctor of Philosophy

by

Dean L. Bartles

May 2013

Keywords: Adaptive control, environmentally conscious manufacturing, environmentally friendly machining, green manufacturing, sustainable manufacturing, technology management

UMI Number: 3589476

All rights reserved

INFORMATION TO ALL USERS The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.



UMI 3589476

Published by ProQuest LLC (2013). Copyright in the Dissertation held by the Author.

Microform Edition © ProQuest LLC. All rights reserved. This work is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code



ProQuest LLC. 789 East Eisenhower Parkway P.O. Box 1346 Ann Arbor, MI 48106 - 1346

COMMITTEE MEMBERS

Committee Chair: Ronald Woolsey, Ph.D. Professor, Industrial Management University of Central Missouri, Warrensburg, Missouri Committee Member: Gerald Cockrell, Ph.D. Professor, Technology Management Indiana State University, Terre Haute, Indiana Committee Member: Troy Ollison, Ph.D. Associate Professor, Industrial Management University of Central Missouri, Warrensburg, Missouri Committee Member: Jeff Ulmer, Ph.D. Associate Professor, Industrial Management University of Central Missouri, Warrensburg, Missouri

ABSTRACT

Global warming is a well-documented concern. If left unabated, many scientists believe that global warming could potentially have devastating impacts to life on earth. Current research points to greenhouse gas emissions caused by the burning of fossil fuels to produce electricity as one of the primary causes of global warming. The more electricity produced and consumed the more greenhouse gas emissions are released to the atmosphere. Industry is one of the most significant consumers of electricity. Within industry, manufacturing accounts for a significant majority of all energy consumed with machine tools being one of the largest consumers. Machine tool builders need to develop ways for machine tools to use less energy in producing the same amount of product.

The literature contains suggestions on how a manufacturer can approach reducing the amount of energy consumed by machine tools in manufacturing. However, there is paucity in the literature related to how "adaptive control" might be employed to reduce the amount of energy consumed by machine tools in manufacturing. This study examined the possibility of employing "adaptive control" to minimize the amount of energy consumed by machine tools during machining.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

First and foremost I would like to thank and praise my Lord and Savior Jesus Christ who has blessed me with the ability to understand and learn the required subject material, the patience needed during the times when the comprehension didn't come as quick as I wanted it to, and the perseverance required throughout my entire doctoral program, especially the dissertation process, to keep forging ahead. Secondly, I would like to thank my wife, Luanne, whose love, support, encouragement, patience, and understanding allowed me to achieve this accomplishment. Thirdly, I would like to thank my executive assistant, Amy Stoneburner, whose typing support for various papers and presentations during my doctoral studies was extremely timely, accurate, and greatly appreciated. Additionally, I would like to thank my industry colleagues and friends who have inspired me to pursue lifelong learning in no order of preference: Dr. David Dornfeld, Dr. Barbara Fossum, Dr. Tom Kurfess, Ralph Resnick, Dr. Tony Schmitz, Dr. Scott Smith, Dr. John Sutherland, and Dr. Cheryl Xu. Lastly, I would like to thank my dissertation committee, Dr. Ronald Woolsey, Dr. Gerald Cockerel, Dr. Troy Ollison, and Dr. Jeff Ulmer, whose support and guidance steered me in the right direction whenever I began to veer off course, as well as a couple of my fellow doctoral students, Scott Arias, Dr. Jeff Cunion, Dr. Len Pederson, Samuel Peffers, and Dr. Aaron Sauer who continued to prod me onward even as they worked on completing their own degree requirements.

I dedicate this work and this accomplishment to my three sons, Joshua, Caleb, and Jacob, who make me want to strive to be a better father, a better husband, and a better person.

iv

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	iii
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	iv
LIST OF TABLES	ix
LIST OF FIGURES	X
Introduction	11
Background	12
Problem Statement	14
Need for the Study	15
Purpose of the Study	15
Research Questions	16
Proposed Null and Alternative Hypotheses	16
Assumptions of the Study	17
Assumptions regarding the statistical analysis	17
Limitations	
Significance of the Study	
Organization of the Study	
Definition of Terms	19
Summary	19
Review of Literature	21

Chapter Overview	21
Sustainable Manufacturing	21
Sustainable Manufacturing Concept and Definitions	24
Motivations and Barriers to Sustainable Manufacturing	24
Regulatory pressure	25
Economic incentives	25
Barriers to Sustainable Manufacturing	26
System Management of Industrial Sustainability	28
Reducing the Environmental Impact of Manufacturing	30
Understand the Sources of Environmental Impact	30
Quantifying Environmental Impact	31
Environmental Impact Control Opportunities	32
Environmental Impact Characterization Metrics	32
Material Flow Analysis	33
Energy Flow Analysis	33
Risk Assessment	34
Cost of Ownership	34
Background of Machine Tools	34
Computer Numerical Control	37
Numerical Control: A Historical Perspective	40
The Proliferation of CNC Machines	47
Advantages and Limitations of CNC Machines	50
Applications	51

Technology Trends Complementing CNC Proliferation	
CNC and Factory Automation	56
Adaptive Control of Machine Tools	59
Summary	61
METHODOLOGY	62
Introduction	62
Data Collection	62
Work pieces	65
Data Collection	65
Proposed Research Questions	66
Proposed Null and Alternative Hypotheses	67
Summary of Hypotheses Testing	70
Selection of Alpha	70
Statistical Assumptions	71
Summary	71
ANALYSIS	72
Introduction	72
Data Description	72
Descriptive Statistics	74
Tests of the Hypotheses	75
Summary of Results	91
Summary	93
CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	

Introduction	94
Purpose of the Study Revisited	94
Discussion of the Research Findings	95
Implications for Practitioners	
Limitations of the Study	
Recommendations for Future Research	
Conclusions	
Summary	
REFERENCES	
APPENDIXES	110
Appendix A. CORRELATION ANALYSIS	111
Appendix B. REGRESSION ANALYSIS	115
Appendix C. ANOVA ANALYSIS	
Appendix D. DATA	

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1 Base sizes of the sample population	66
Table 2 Summary of hypotheses tests	70
Table 3 Independent Variable Pairings	73
Table 4 Dependent Variable Descriptive Statistics	74
Table 5 Independent Variable T-test Statistics	76
Table 6 Independent Variables Effect on Energy Used	77
Table 7 Energy Used comparison within levels of Adaptive Control and Tool Condition	77
Table 8 Correlations between independent variables and energy used	79
Table 9 Predictability of Energy Used Subsets	80
Table 10 Regression Analysis of Spindle Speed/Adaptive control/Tool condition	82
Table 11 Regression Analysis of Feed Rate/Adaptive control/Tool condition	83
Table 12 Regression Analysis of Depth of Cut/Adaptive control/Tool condition	85
Table 13 Regression Analysis of Coolant Temperature/Adaptive control/Tool condition	86
Table 14 Regression Analysis of Coolant Volume/Adaptive control/Tool condition	87
Table 15 Summary Results on all the Sub-sample Regression Models	88
Table 16 Interaction with Adaptive Control and the Effect on Energy Used	89
Table 17 Interaction with Adaptive Control and the Effect on Energy Used	90
Table 18 Strongest Correlation to "Energy Used" by Variable	97
Table 19 Correlation of Coolant Temperature and Coolant Volume to "Energy Used"	98

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Okuma LC40-2ST CNC.	63
Figure 2. Planned research model.	64
Figure 3. Work piece sketch.	65
Figure 4. Histogram of Dependent Variable "Energy Used".	74

CHAPTER 1

Introduction

Manufacturing is an important part of any nation's economy and security. The President's Council of Advisors on Science and Technology July 2012 report on "Capturing Domestic Competitive Advantage in Advanced Manufacturing" states that:

The United States has long thrived as a result of its ability to manufacture goods and sell them to global markets. Manufacturing has supported our economic growth, contributing to the Nation's exports, and employing millions of Americans. Manufacturing has driven knowledge production and innovation in the United States by supporting two-thirds of private sector research and development (R&D) and by employing scientists, engineers, and technicians to invent and produce new products (Holdren & Lander, 2012, p.1).

Further support for the importance of manufacturing is evidenced by the National Association of Manufacturers who report that "US manufacturing produces \$1.7 trillion of value each year, or 11.7 percent of U.S. GDP" ("Facts about manufacturing," n.d.).

Although manufacturing, as indicated above, is an extremely important economic sector to the US, it comes with a price. Offsetting the positive attributes of its contribution to US Gross Domestic Product, job creation, knowledge production, etc. is the toll that US manufacturing has taken on the environment. Rahiimiifard (2007) found that the manufacturing industry is one of the biggest sources of negative environmental impact. The environment in general is receiving increasing attention especially as it pertains to "climate change" and "Global Warming" (Gupta & Lambert, 2008, p. ix). Manufacturing has a significant role to play in the area of climate change mitigation. This research focuses on one aspect of manufacturing's potential contribution.

Background

"Environmentally conscious manufacturing" ("ECM"), according to Gupta & Lambert (2008, p. ix), is "an emerging discipline that is concerned with developing methods for manufacturing new products with as little negative impact on the environment as possible." Other terms somewhat synonymous to ECM are "green" manufacturing and "sustainable" manufacturing as well as "environmentally friendly manufacturing" and "environmentally benign manufacturing". Not since the evolution of "lean" manufacturing has a strategic concept for an approach to manufacturing been introduced with the same velocity as "green" manufacturing or "environmentally conscious manufacturing". A "Google" search on various types of manufacturing conducted on July 18, 2012 reflects the frequency of the following terms appearing on the World Wide Web listed in order of prevalence:

- 1. "lean manufacturing" About 6,110,000 results
- 2. "advanced manufacturing" About 3,640,000 results
- 3. "flexible manufacturing" About 884,000 results
- 4. "green manufacturing" About 809,000 results
- 5. "Just In Time manufacturing" About 713,000 results
- 6. "additive manufacturing" About 495,000 results
- 7. "environmentally friendly manufacturing" About 417,000 results

8. "sustainable manufacturing" - About 386,000 results

9. "rapid manufacturing" - About 354,000 results

10. "intelligent manufacturing" - About 281,000 results

11. "competitive manufacturing" - About 244,000 results

12. "agile manufacturing" - About 227,000 results

13. "six sigma manufacturing" - About 220,000 results

14. "smart manufacturing" - About 83,000 results

15. "environmentally conscious manufacturing" - About 62,000 results

16. "reconfigurable manufacturing" - About 49,700 results

17. "subtractive manufacturing" - About 48,900 results

18. "environmentally benign manufacturing" - About 24,200 results

"Green" manufacturing, arguably a more recently coined term than the others, is already fourth in the list and more than likely will move to third in the near future. Clearly, manufacturers of all types and all sizes will be looking to embrace the attributes of "green" manufacturing going forward.

According to the Environmental Protection Agency ("EPA"), "earth's average temperature has risen by 1.4°F over the past century, and is projected to rise another 2 to 11.5°F over the next hundred years" ("Climate change basics," 2012). They also say that "small changes in the average temperature of the planet can translate to large and potentially dangerous shifts in climate and weather" ("Climate change basics," 2012). One of the primary causes of the aforementioned temperature escalation is human activities that have released large amounts of carbon dioxide and other greenhouse gases into the atmosphere ("Climate change basics," 2012). The EPA also reports "the majority of greenhouse gases come from burning fossil fuels to produce energy" ("Climate change basics," 2012). These "greenhouse gases act like a blanket around Earth, trapping energy in the atmosphere and causing it to warm" ("Climate change basics," 2012). Lastly, the EPA goes on to say that "the buildup of greenhouse gases can change earth's climate and result in dangerous effects to human health and welfare and to ecosystems" ("Climate change basics," 2012).

According to the US Government's Energy Information Administration ("EIA"), manufacturing "accounts for about 80 percent of industrial energy consumption", and manufacturing "also accounts for about 80 percent of industrial energy-related carbon emissions" ("Energy-related carbon emissions, 2000"). When you consider that industrial energy consumption represents approximately 40 percent of all energy consumed in the US according to the EIA ("What are greenhouse gases?, 2004") and, as stated above, manufacturing accounts for about 80% of that, it becomes abundantly clear how important it is for manufacturers to focus some of their efforts towards reducing their greenhouse gas emissions by reducing the amount of energy they consume in making their respective products.

According to Richter (2009), "reducing the amount of energy the motors on a metal cutting machine tool use is one way for a manufacturer to increase its competitiveness...while "greening" its operations". Richter points out that the majority of energy consumed by manufacturers is in motor energy consumption on machines. Therefore targeting methods to reduce the amount of energy consumed by motors on machine tools is an effective approach to becoming a more sustainable or "greener" manufacturer.

Problem Statement

Global warming is a well-documented concern. If left unabated, many scientists believe that global warming could potentially have devastating impacts to life on earth. One of the

primary causes of global warming is thought to be greenhouse gas emissions caused by the burning of fossil fuels to produce electricity. The more electricity produced and consumed the more greenhouse gas emissions are released to the atmosphere. Industry is one of the most significant consumers of electricity. Within industry, manufacturing accounts for about 80 percent of all energy consumed, as cited above. Manufacturers need to develop ways to use less energy in producing the same amount of product.

Need for the Study

The literature contains suggestions on how a manufacturer can approach reducing the amount of energy consumed by machine tools in manufacturing, such as replacing single speed motors with variable speed motors, replacing older motors with new, more energy efficient motors, etc. (Richter, 2009). However, there is paucity in the literature related to how "adaptive control" might be employed to reduce the amount of energy consumed by machine tools in manufacturing.

According to Drozda & Wick (1983, p. 5-70), "adaptive control" is a "method using automatic means to change the type and/or influence of control parameters to achieve near optimum processing performance". The authors go on to say that it "is used to optimize independent parameters such as speeds and feeds to be consistent with processing constraints such as quality of surface finish and cutter life" (Drozda & Wick, 1983, p. 5-70). This study examined the possibility of employing "adaptive control" to minimize the amount of energy consumed by the machine tool during machining.

Purpose of the Study

This study encompassed field research directed at reducing the amount of energy consumed by machine tools in manufacturing through the employment of "adaptive control"

technology. "Adaptive control" was the primary influencing independent variable researched. In addition to "adaptive control," other influencing independent variables explored included feed rate, spindle speed, depth of cut, coolant temperature, coolant flow volume, and tool condition. The dependent variable that was the focus of this research was the amount of energy used during a chosen machining cycle measured in kilowatt hours which is a common unit of measure for energy found in other research such as Ulmer and Ollison (2008).

Research Questions

The following questions proposed by the researcher were examined during this study:

- Are there significant differences in energy used based on levels of the independent controlling variables in predicting energy used?
- 2) Do the independent variables described above have a relationship with energy used? Can a predictive model using these variables be built that will explain a significant amount of the variability in energy used, and provide an accurate prediction given the set of parameters?
- 3) Does adaptive control or tool condition interact with the other independent variables when investigating the relationship with energy used?

Proposed Null and Alternative Hypotheses

 H_{01} : There will not be any significant mean score differences on energy used between levels of the independent variables.

 $H_{A1:}$ The levels of the independent variables will be found to have significant energy used mean score differences, and therefore the independent variables will be significant influencers of energy used.

 H_{02} : There is no statistically significant direct relationship between the influencing variables and the amounts of energy used during a machining cycle.

 H_{A2} : There is a statistically significant direct relationship between the influencing variables and the amounts of energy used during a machining cycle.

 H_{03} : There is no statistically significant predictive model that will show a direct linear relationship between influencing variables and energy used.

 H_{A3} : There is a statistically significant predictive model that will show a direct linear relationship between influencing variables and energy used.

H₀₄: Independent variables will not be correlated significantly and will not produce statistically significant interaction effects in the energy regression models.

 H_{A4} : Independent variables will be significantly inter-correlated, and there will be statistically significant interaction effects in the energy regression models.

Assumptions of the Study

It is assumed that the results obtained during this study, although conducted on a CNC lathe, are somewhat generalizable to other machine tools that adaptive control could be implemented on. It is also assumed that the results of the study will serve as a tool for specific targeting for future intervention in an attempt to reduce the amount of energy consumed throughout the entire manufacturing enterprise.

Assumptions regarding the statistical analysis

Alpha is the probability of committing a Type I error – that is rejecting the null hypothesis, H_0 , when it is true. This error sometimes occurs in studies as it is not possible to study every item in the population. The alpha for this study was set to 0.05 – that is the 5 percent level. This level was chosen in order to obtain a 95 confidence which the researcher has

determined to be the lowest acceptable confidence level for this type of research. A higher level of confidence was determined not to be needed and would have required more samples which would have cost additional money to collect.

Limitations

As indicated above, the environment for this study was a specific machine tool that was machining a specific material to a specific shape using a specific cutting tool insert. Accordingly, the results of this study may not be generalizable to all machine tools. However, this study should serve as a stepping stone for further research into other machine tools to determine if more generalizable patterns exist.

Significance of the Study

The results of this study should have significant practitioner interest. Since the literature has already shown that a high level of greenhouse gas emissions are attributable to manufacturing through the energy that is consumed by machine tools, reducing the amount of energy consumed will not only have a positive impact on the environment, but a positive impact on business performance through lower energy costs. The practitioner should take keen interest in the findings from this study to facilitate targeting specific machine tools for intervention so that the amount of energy consumed can be decreased.

Organization of the Study

This study consists of 5 chapters starting with this introductory chapter. Chapter 2 is a review of the relevant literature pertaining to sustainable manufacturing, machine tools, computer numerical control, and adaptive control. Chapter 3 explains the research methodology employed by the researcher. The findings and results of the study are discussed in Chapter 4

which in turn is followed by the fifth and final chapter where conclusions and directions for future research are discussed.

Definition of Terms

The following are definitions of terms that are utilized throughout this document:

<u>Adaptive control</u> - a method using automatic means to change the type and/or influence of control parameters to achieve near optimum processing performance (Drozda & Wick, 1983, p. 5-70).

<u>Environmentally conscious manufacturing</u> - an emerging discipline that is concerned with developing methods for manufacturing new products with as little negative impact on the environment as possible (Gupta & Lambert, 2008).

<u>Green manufacturing</u> - the continual optimization of material and energy resources during the design, manufacture, and end use of products in order to reduce production costs, eliminate negative environmental impacts, and increase business opportunities ("Develop green manufacturing skills," 2012).

<u>Sustainable manufacturing</u> - the creation of manufactured products that use processes that minimize negative environmental impacts, conserve energy and natural resources, are safe for employees, communities, and consumers and are economically sound ("How does Commerce define," n.d.).

Summary

This chapter has provided the background, purpose, justification, and rationale for the study that was conducted. The "problem" that the researcher investigated has been clearly stated. The environment, limitations, and assumptions of the study have also been discussed. Lastly, the significance of the study, as well as the organization of the study, has been detailed.

The following chapter will review the relevant literature pertaining to sustainable manufacturing, machine tools, computer numerical control, and adaptive control.

CHAPTER 2

Review of Literature

Chapter Overview

The previous chapter presented a brief introduction of the study, the background for the study, the problem statement, the need for the study, the purpose of the study, the proposed research questions, the proposed null and alternative hypotheses, the assumptions of the study, the limitations of the study, the organization of the study, and definitions of terms pertaining to the study. This chapter presents a summary of the literature reviewed for this study starting with a brief introduction to "Sustainable Manufacturing", the origin of machine tools, their subsequent evolution to "Computer Numerically Controlled" ("CNC") machine tools, an overview of "Adaptive Control" as it applies to machine tools and how it can be a key technology to further the advancement of "Sustainable Manufacturing".

Sustainable Manufacturing

As manufacturing converts raw materials into products, environmental wastes and emissions are simultaneously generated by the consumption of energy, water and excessive materials in the manufacturing system. Manufacturing wastes and emissions include various pollutants and material wastes such as air emissions, wastewater discharges, hazardous wastes and solid wastes ("The lean and the environment toolkit", 2011). The wastes generated from the manufacturing industry are very significant. According to the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), about 12 billion tons of industrial wastes are generated annually in the United States and over one third of these wastes are hazardous wastes (Gungor & Gupta, 1999), (Fiksel, 1995). Presently, the manufacturing industry is required to produce a higher-than-ever amount of goods and services to meet the needs of the growing population and people's increasing standard of living. As the earth has limited natural resources to supply for industrial productions, the increasing demands and consumption have led to a shortage of raw materials and a rapid deterioration in the global environment which affects all life on the earth for inhabitants and their prosperity.

In order to sustain the economic growth and social progress, sustainable development, defined as "development that meets the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs", has been proposed in 1987 by the World Commission on Environment and Development of the United Nations (World Commission On Environment and Development, 1987, p.42). Sustainable development is a grand strategy for the whole global society. To achieve sustainable development, manufacturing is a fundamental enabler as it produces goods and services which are closely related to the economy, society, environment and technology (Jovane, et al., 2008).

Manufacturing is both material and energy-intensive. Environmental impacts of manufacturing result mainly from the materials and energy consumed in the manufacturing systems. Manufacturing is dominant in its environmental impacts in such categories as toxic chemicals, waste generation, energy consumption and carbon emissions (Gutowski, et al., 2001).

Toxic materials are widely and heavily used in manufacturing for both product development and process operations. There are grave concerns pertaining to their toxic effects and the significant impact on the environment and human health. There is a wide variety of toxic chemicals involved in various manufacturing operations for etching, forming, catalyzing,

cleaning, etc. and such chemicals inevitably lead to waste emissions generation from the process operations.

Besides the toxic chemical releases, the manufacturing industry also generates a huge amount of waste, mainly in the form of solid waste and waste water, which also causes significant environmental problems and impacts. As reported, waste generated in the United States are more than any other single country in the world, in both absolute scale and per capita (Gutowski, et al., 2001), (Park & Labys, 1999).

According to the US Government's Energy Information Administration ("EIA"), manufacturing "accounts for about 80 percent of industrial energy consumption", and manufacturing "also accounts for about 80 percent of industrial energy-related carbon emissions" ("Energy-related carbon emissions in manufacturing," 2010). When you consider that industrial energy consumption represents approximately 40 percent of all energy consumed in the US according to the EIA ("What are greenhouse gases?, 2004") and, as stated above, manufacturing accounts for about 80% of that, it becomes abundantly clear how important it is for manufacturers to focus some of their efforts towards reducing their greenhouse gas emissions by reducing the amount of energy they consume in making their respective products.

Greenhouse gas emissions are another byproduct of manufacturing and are a serious concern of the global society. Industrial production consumes fossil fuels heavily through direct on-site combustion and indirect utilization of fossil-fuel-generated electricity, all of which contribute to the generation of significant amounts of greenhouse gases to the global environment. Greenhouse gases induce global warming problems and may cause dangerous anthropogenic interference with the climate system ("United nations framework convention on climate change," 1992). According to the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC),

based on current emission trends the average global temperature is expected to rise by 1.4 °C to 5.8 °C between 1990 and 2100 ("Climate change 2001: Synthesis report," 2001).

Sustainable Manufacturing Concept and Definitions

As the environmental impacts of manufacturing are so significant in the amount of emissions and wastes, sustainable manufacturing has received enormous attention in recent years as a comprehensive strategy for reducing the environmental impact and improving the economic performance of manufacturing. Sustainable manufacturing is an expanded concept of green manufacturing (also called environmentally conscious manufacturing). The sustainable manufacturing concept is developed through integrating the sustainability notion into the manufacturing system with an aim to achieve sustainable development of industrial production. Since sustainability is a broad three-dimensional concept involving environmental, economic and social concerns, a complete definition of sustainable manufacturing should also integrate environmental, economic and social aspects of manufacturing in that context. However, in current research and practice, sustainable manufacturing focuses much more on the environmental aspect of manufacturing. In addition, sustainable manufacturing is also defined as a means for manufacturers to add the most value to their products and services by making the most efficient use of the earth's limited resources, generating the least pollution to the environment, and targeting for environmentally clean production systems (Madu, 2001).

Motivations and Barriers to Sustainable Manufacturing

A manufacturing system involves a wide range of stakeholders including suppliers, manufacturers, retailers, consumers, policy-makers, etc. As the stakeholders are becoming more aware of the values of sustainable manufacturing in practice, the manufacturing industry is motivated to implement sustainable manufacturing strategies to reduce the environmental impact and moreover, to improve the economic performance of its manufacturing operations, as indicated by a number of research results (Ahmed, Montagno, & Firenze, 1998; Hart, 1995; Klassen & Whybark, 1999; Porter & van der Linde, 1995).

There are quite a number of drivers in effect motivating the manufacturing industry to sustainable manufacturing practices. The motivation factors are summarized in the following three categories: regulatory pressure, economic incentives, and competitive advantages.

Regulatory pressure

Aware of the significant environmental problems of industrial wastes and emissions, governmental agencies initiated efforts for environmental impact control and restoration by making a series of policies, regulations, and laws, which has achieved significant progress in advancing the environmental performance of industrial production activities. US environmental regulations have undergone three stages since 1970 (Frosch, 1995; Gungor & Gupta, 1999). The first stage focused on the "end-of-pipe" control of environmental wastes. Representative regulations include the Clean Air Act, the Clean Water Act, and the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA). The second stage focused on reducing the environmental pollution of industrial activities, with the Pollution Prevention Act enacted in 1990. The third stage focuses on clean production by encouraging implementation of comprehensive environmental programs to reduce the overall impact of industrial production.

Economic incentives

Under regulatory pressure and governmental efforts, the manufacturing industry is driven towards sustainable manufacturing by the economic benefits which could result from the implementation of sustainability programs. Sustainable manufacturing, in general, includes such practices as pollution prevention, product stewardship, and emission control (Bansal, 2005;

Rusinko, 2007). The economic cost involved in emission control is tremendous for the manufacturing industry. It has been reported that the US manufacturers currently spend approximately \$170 billion per year in waste treatment and disposal costs (Gutowski, et al., 2001). Appropriate sustainable manufacturing programs such as pollution prevention for minimizing waste generation in manufacturing could effectively cut the costs on both waste management and material consumption, and accordingly can improve the profit margin of the manufacturing industry. A recent survey on the U.S. commercial carpet manufacturers indicates that 84.6% of the manufacturers that adopt emission control strategies such as recycling water and diverting solid waste from landfills, and 100% of the manufacturers that adopt pollution prevention strategies like reducing raw materials usage and energy consumptions have successfully decreased their manufacturing cost (Rusinko, 2007).

Barriers to Sustainable Manufacturing

Although sustainable manufacturing is driven by a number of positive factors, the manufacturing industry still faces some barriers and challenges that hinder the application of sustainable manufacturing strategies in practice. Some early investigations have stated that environmental initiatives may induce a negative impact on company performance (Freeman, 1994; Judge & Krishnan, 1994). In general, the barriers for sustainable manufacturing could be summarized into the following three categories: economic barrier, technological barrier and managerial barrier.

Early sustainable manufacturing practices focused mainly on emission controls and waste management (Gutowski, et al., 2001). In the emission control and waste management process, the capital cost requirements are high and take a long time to be paid back. In some circumstances, the capital input of emission control may exceed the total amount of direct

economic gains. This has greatly hindered the practical applications of sustainable manufacturing strategies in industry. But as sustainable manufacturing practices are switching from "end-of - pipe" emission control to pollution prevention, and the costs for waste disposal and environmental emissions are increasing, the economic barrier of sustainable manufacturing is gradually diminishing for the manufacturing industry (Gutowski, et al., 2001).

Another major barrier for sustainable manufacturing is that the manufacturing industry has to rely on certain processes, technologies or materials to make its products, which may be very polluting but cannot be avoided in the current stage due to the lack of appropriate technologies or processes. Using automotive manufacturing as an example, the painting operations generate a significant amount of volatile organic compound (VOC) emissions which cause air pollution by creating ozone and carcinogens. It has been reported that approximately 80% of Ford's toxic pollutants that were released into the environment were from the painting operations (Kim, Kalis, & Adams, 2001). Even with such an enormous impact identified, complete elimination of the painting emissions is not practical in this stage as the industry lacks appropriate technologies to replace the process.

The other major barrier for sustainable manufacturing is that the manufacturing industry lacks adequate and scientific decision support tools for effective implementation of sustainable manufacturing strategies. To achieve sustainable manufacturing, the industry needs appropriate analytical tools to characterize and benchmark the environmental impact of emissions and wastes from a specific manufacturing process/system to support decision-making. While manufacturing is such a complicated system that numerous types of processes, materials, and system patterns are employed, generic decision tools are difficult to use for the whole manufacturing industry as each manufacturing process/system has its own specificities. The manufacturing system is

closely linked to many other industrial activities and the products from manufacturing impact almost everyone in society. As a result, the environmental impact of manufacturing must be assessed both comprehensively and specifically for robust decision support in the industrial applications. This needs further research efforts on environmental impact assessment methods and manufacturing process modeling and characterizations. For example, life cycle impact assessment, as a comprehensive system tool for environmental impact analysis, needs to be standardized, streamlined and further improved before wider application in industrial practice is seen (Hunkeler & Rebitzer, 2005).

System Management of Industrial Sustainability

Manufacturing is a comprehensive system which involves a wide range of partners including other manufacturers, suppliers, distributors, consumers, recyclers, policy-makers, etc. In real practice, a manufacturing system is interconnected with a large number of other systems and processes in the whole industrial, social and environmental context. The environmental impact of manufacturing partially comes from its upstream partners like materials acquisition, processing and supplying. At the same time some environmental consequences of manufacturing transfer with the manufactured products to its downstream partners like distributors, consumers, recyclers, etc. As a result, the implementation of sustainable manufacturing strategies needs to consider not only the impact and benefits of manufacturing itself, but also the interests of all the stakeholders associated with manufacturing during the industrial efforts towards an effective control and management of the environmental impact of manufacturing. As a result, sustainable manufacturing practices require a system level approach within and beyond the whole industry for sustainability management and improvement.

At the macro level, sustainable manufacturing practices are driven by governmental efforts through a series of "top-down" regulations, policies and incentives from the national level, followed by regional and industrial sector efforts for the establishment of appropriate environmental management programs and the development of specific roadmaps and strategic plans. However, the real implementations of sustainable manufacturing are at the bottom level of the industrial sector which involves individual or team efforts in technology innovations, process manipulations, product stewardship, and system improvements. In implementing sustainable manufacturing strategies, it is important to understand the different levels of the system required to make appropriate efforts at a specific level to support sustainability assessment and advancement.

The concept of sustainable manufacturing has only been raised in recent years and emphasized as a research focus due to the needs of manufacturing for a simultaneous improvement of the economic and environmental performance of industry (Chen, 2006) , (Seidel, Shahbazpour, & Seidel, 2007). In current sustainable manufacturing research, significant efforts are put on the development of metrics for environmental performance measurement of manufacturing and on the investigations of specific manufacturing processes or manufacturing systems for environmental performance improvement. However, few applications have been conducted on sustainability improvement of emerging technologies such as nano-scale manufacturing (Krishnan, et al., 2008).

Numerous environmental metrics have been developed for manufacturing and related industrial production activities. Young, Scharp, & Cabezas (2000) have developed a waste reduction algorithm for reducing the wastes from materials and energy consumptions in a chemical process. Life Cycle Assessment (LCA) as a comprehensive tool capable of performing

a complete assessment of the environmental performance of a product system has been widely researched and applied on the manufactured products. Socolof, Overly, & Geibig (2005) performed an environmental life cycle impact study of CRT and LCD desktop computer displays. MacLean & Lave (1998) conducted a life-cycle assessment of an automobile by using economic input-output analysis. While implementing life-cycle assessment is very costly and time consuming and is beyond the capacity of many manufacturers, the manufacturing industry is in great need of a system approach which is economical, efficient and effective in facilitating decision making in the process of reducing its overall environmental impact.

Reducing the Environmental Impact of Manufacturing

Reducing the environmental impact of manufacturing is a complicated issue as it needs systematic investigations of the emission mechanisms, quantification of the environmental impact and identification of improvement opportunities for industry to implement sustainable manufacturing strategies. For reducing the environmental impact of manufacturing, the fundamental process and sequence of actions needs to be understood first and then followed in real practice. Generally the four steps below are followed in real practice for reducing the environmental impact of industrial production: first, understand the sources of the environmental impact; second, quantify the environmental impact of industrial emissions and wastes; third, identify improvement opportunities for reducing the environmental impact; finally, implement strategies to reduce the environmental impact and assess their effectiveness (Nazaroff & Alvarez-Cohen, 2001). Each is discussed below.

Understand the Sources of Environmental Impact

To reduce the environmental impact, the first step is to understand the sources of the impact. In manufacturing operations, the environmental impact results mainly from

environmental emissions and waste generated from the materials and energy consumed in the manufacturing processes. A wide range of materials is used in manufacturing either as working materials (such as metals, polymers, etc.) to make products or as supplemental materials (such as chemicals, fluids, etc.) to assist the manufacturing operations. The residual working materials left over after manufacturing and the supplemental materials not completely consumed during manufacturing are all categorized as wastes after manufacturing operations. The energy consumed in manufacturing also generates a significant amount of emissions, both directly from on-site burning of fossil fuels and indirectly from the purchased electricity. The products manufactured also produce environmental impacts during their use phase and their end-of-life stage. Other closely linked processes such as product design, material production, supply chain, etc., all have environmental impacts associated with manufacturing (Nazaroff & Alvarez-Cohen, 2001).

Quantifying Environmental Impact

Quantifying environmental impact is necessary as it provides the information not only to improve people's understanding of the consequences of emissions and wastes on the environment, but also to assist decision-making during environmental impact reduction through quantitative evaluation and feedback. However, quantifying environmental impact of manufacturing is a complex issue since it needs to quantify the material and energy input into a manufacturing system, and measure the amount of emissions/waste output, as well as the effects of these emissions/wastes on both environment and human health (Nazaroff & Alvarez-Cohen, 2001).

Environmental Impact Control Opportunities

For industrial practice, the fundamental strategy for environmental impact reduction is environmental emission control and impact remediation. Manufacturing emissions are generated from a wide range of manufacturing activities and could be generally categorized into three groups: air emissions, water discharges and solid wastes. Controlling such emissions requires different strategies and techniques. Generally, there are three opportunities for environmental control of emissions and wastes: pollution prevention, "end-of-pipe" control, and environmental restoration, (Nazaroff & Alvarez-Cohen, 2001).

1. Pollution prevention: apply the emission control strategies before and during the emission generating process through such preventive measures as using less materials and energy, employing environmentally benign materials, etc.

2. "End-of-pipe" control: apply the control strategies after the emissions and waste are generated but before they are released into the environment through such techniques as recycling, collection, treatment, etc.

3. Environmental restoration: this is the environmental strategy typically employed to remediate environmental damage after the emissions/waste have been generated and released into the environment. Current environmental restoration strategies are mainly applied on land releases for hazardous waste management and site restoration, some on water treatment and just a few on airborne emission management. Environmental restoration is costly when compared with the other two strategies.

Environmental Impact Characterization Metrics

This approach covers the technology, energy and materials components of a manufacturing system and requires a number of metrics and models to characterize and quantify

the environmental impact of manufacturing for pollution prevention practice. The metrics employed for the environmental performance characterization and analysis in this research are described in detail below.

Material Flow Analysis

"Material Flow Analysis" ("MFA") is a methodology developed for quantitative analysis of material flows into and out of a subject system. MFA is a material accounting procedure widely employed in the study of industrial ecology topics (Bouman, Heijungs, Van Der Voet, Jeroen Van Den Bergh, & Huppes, 2000). MFA generally employs a material balance approach for the analysis of material flows within a target system. The MFA target could be a selected substance, a material, a product, an industrial sector, or an economy (Cooper, n.d.). Material flow analysis can be conducted in various scales at international, national, or regional target systems.

Energy Flow Analysis

"Energy flow analysis" ("EFA") is a methodology developed for tracking and understanding the energy flows within a complex system, often for decision support in minimizing the energy consumption of the target system to reduce its environmental impact from fossil fuel energy use. EFA is very similar to MFA as described in the previous section in terms of modeling structure and data acquisition. In a manufacturing system, energy is universally needed to drive machines and operate manufacturing processes. The energy flows within a manufacturing system could be modeled by using an equipment centric approach as described in the literature (Krishnan, et al., 2008).

Risk Assessment

Toxic chemical substances used in product design and manufacturing have significant impact on the environment and human health. The potential impact of toxic chemicals on human health is typically assessed by using a risk assessment method (Ramaswami, Milford, & Small, 2005).

Cost of Ownership

In sustainable manufacturing practice, cost is an important factor to be considered in decision-making for all activities manipulating the components of a manufacturing system. A complete cost analysis needs to be performed frequently in sustainable manufacturing for decision-making since sustainable manufacturing related adjustments either lead to a cost-savings or require extra cost for operations. Decisions have to be made based on the cost and pay-back of the activities prior to the implementation of sustainability programs.

Background of Machine Tools

The faculty of manufacturing has always been based on a skill to produce a desired product and the ease with which such a skill can be manipulated. Traditionally these two aspects of manufacturing were independent entities with the former, i.e. the required skill, being the portfolio of the operator or workman while the later, i.e. available ease, implied a machine tool. The operator was the one responsible to produce the expected results from the machine and it was, as the saying goes, a workman with lesser skills who was at odds with his tools. The operator was therefore selling his skill in the form of a product that has utility for those who can afford it. This pattern of interaction between the manufacturer and end user changed dramatically with the societal conformance to industrialization and increased opportunities for an individual's economic growth. The demand for a product was created because of the ability of a
larger part of the society to purchase that product. This meant that the manufacturing faculty was now required to produce not for the manifestation of a skill but for the consumption of a marketplace being governed by the concept of supply and demand. More precise requirements to accommodate more stringent engineering design criteria exposed the operator's skills to inherent limitations of human nature. Also, the awareness within the consumers to get one's money's worth being their right rather than a chance privilege made the industry compliant to the concept of quality that must be guaranteed to the customer.

These changing scenarios influenced not only the broader aspects of manufacturing, i.e. the dynamics of a shift from mere skill or a faculty to an industry that culminated into the concept of a complete system, but also concentrated on the man-machine interface at the shop floor level. It was understood that the process of producing precise profiles depends on the ability to define an accurate tool path around the work piece. The machine itself was more accommodating in providing a mean to this end and accuracy was incorporated into the machine by enhancing its ability to locate the cutting tool more precisely on and along the work piece. This created more sophisticated machine tools that gave more control to the operator to accurately define a profile and then reproduce that shape repeatedly with the same level of accuracy. However, to produce the given part in a greater quantity required better machine utilization and lesser human intervention. Machine utilization required better planning for the jobs which necessitated engineering management approaches that can ensure a smooth flow of inputs through the manufacturing system.

Making machines more independent of the operator's intervention in carrying out the desired operations required making the machine more capable to independently carry out a cut once a tool path has been defined by the operator. Turning operations carried out on lathes are a

good example of such capability where once the feed rates have been selected, the tool post can be allowed to move along a defined cutting path (linear, or along a single axis) powered by the main spindle with the depth of cut reset by the operator after each single cut till the desired dimension is achieved (Chapman, 1972. p. 302).

This shift from manual to mechanical powering of the cutting tool path was followed by mechanical automation that allowed automatic tool change and location using a mechanism controlled through cams and follower links. This allowed for automating the manufacture of different commonly used high-volume items that had a compliant profile to the extent that dedication of equipment for a job became possible. An example of such a high-volume common use item is a screw that although comes in a number of different sizes, its manufacturing consists of a given number of well-defined steps; the most basic being turning, shouldering, thread-cutting and finally cutting-off. Screw cutting lathe machines, therefore, became one of the earliest machine tools for automatic profiling of a round stock or raw material (Arnold, 2001). This was an important step in the automation of the machine tools that was, however, subdued because of the limited scope and light nature of work that can be handled, with the major task of shaping complex profiles on difficult work pieces remaining the domain of highly skilled operators that can both set up the job and tooling as well as operate the machine for a given job (Chang, Wysk, & Wang, 2005).

The dawn of the electronic era, however, completely changed the set of possibilities available to the machine tool manufacturers for automating machine tools. The feedback capability of an electronic circuit gave this automation the necessary senses to not only carry out but also control the process of profile generation that was previously impossible using mechanical modes of automation. From hardwired, logically controlled circuits to the more

sophisticated and centralized computer-controlled units, the visibility within the entire manufacturing organization was now clear from one end to the other. This was so because the computer on the machine tool can be easily connected to the one controlling other aspects of manufacturing such as planning, purchasing, maintenance, etc. thus making the information generated at any point available to those who are concerned with the process of decision making and operations. This facilitated integration, a concept that literally changed the organizational set up of the modern manufacturing industry.

Computer Numerical Control

Numerical control, the predecessor for CNC machines, is a method of achieving predefined mechanical motion in a machine by the use of a set of instructions in the form of an alphanumeric code (Groover, 2001). This code was digitally translated into electric signals that actuated required motions to perform the desired function, machining in this case, using an electronic processing unit. Thus the control required to position the tool as well as define and maintain the tool path was now fully within the capability of the machine tool itself with minimal, if any, intervention by the operator. A change of job implied changing the set of instructions being fed to the machine tool with the operator being more concerned with loading a punched tape rather than working out a new set up on the machine for a new job. The numerically controlled set up, therefore, consisted of three fundamental components that are briefly defined as follows (Groover & Zimmers, 1984, pp. 135-138):

a) Program of Instructions: The different steps required to carry out a machining operation were coded in the form of a set of alphanumeric instructions known as the program. These instructions were then transferred to a storage medium, generally a punch tape, from where the codes were digitally read into the control unit.

b) "Machine Control Unit" ("MCU"): The control unit consisted of electronics and hardware that step-by-step interpreted the program of instruction into actual operations of the machine tool. The program was read into the buffer memory instruction wise, processed, and the resulting output signals relayed to the servomotors for carrying out the desired motion.

Since the MCU was concerned with controlling the motion of the machine tool, NC systems were classified on the basis of the capability of the controller to position the tool and work piece for the purpose of machining. The two basic types of NC systems are (Hitomi, 1996, pp. 385):

• Point-to-Point or positioning system that was valid for such machining operations as drilling, punching etc. where the machining operation is carried out on a specific location. Thus the trajectory a tool takes to reach that location is of no importance and does not need to be controlled.

• Continuous Path or contouring system required a control on the trajectory of the cutting tool throughout the cutting operation and hence these systems were more sophisticated and expensive than the positioning systems. A series of points were identified on the work piece profile and the path between these points was interpolated either linearly or as a curve, thus defining the required tool trajectory for the cutting operation.

c) Machine Tool: This is the part of the NC system that actually performs the machining operation and contains the worktable, holding mechanism for tool and work piece as well as the driving mechanism. It can also contain a mechanism for automatic tool change to eliminate the necessity for machine stoppage and operator's intervention to change tooling for a given operation or a new job. A control panel was also included with the machine tool, as a built-on or

an independent unit, to give necessary control to the operator for such inevitable functions as stopping or starting the machine etc.

NC machining was indeed a great leap forward from the concept of mechanical automation based on cams; however, it was based more on automating the motions of the machine rather than adjusting to the particular machining requirements of a job. This meant that how the instructions were to be converted into machine tool action, the mathematics and logic of the interpretation, came locked in with the particular controller being used – the so called hardwired electronics (Groover & Zimmers, 1984, pp. 204). Any alteration or upgrading of these units was generally not possible and the programs were therefore developed keeping in mind an "as is" scenario. Also the input mode for the NC machines, i.e. a punch-tape reader, was also highly inflexible to any changes that might be necessary to correct or improve the processing output of a machine (Groover & Zimmers, 1984, pp. 203).

Computers brought about a phenomenal change in how the machine control over the tool path could be obtained. The MCU was replaced by a computer in the CNC machines that provided great flexibility to develop, store and edit programs directly at the machine tool site and allowed inclusion of more sophisticated operations (McMahon & Browne, 1998, pp. 382-383). A number of different programs and routines can now be saved on a single computer and were readily available to be loaded as required into the machine tool. With the program of instructions and the controller now combined within the computer peripheral, the machine tool itself started to look for greater possibilities to facilitate automation of different auxiliary operations. These included a number of various features some of which are listed as follows (McMahon and Browne, 1998, pp. 384):

• Tool magazines were provided to hold a large number of tools on the machine. These tools were indexed to be recalled from within the program when required and loaded on the tool post for machining operation without the requirement of machine stoppage for tool change by the operator.

• Pallet loading system was devised to place the work piece along with the necessary fixtures on a pallet that can then be loaded directly on the machine tool table. Once the job was completed the pallet on board is replaced by another one in waiting decreasing the loading/unloading cycle time to a minimum. This also provided the flexibility to machine different parts one after the other by simply changing the program as the work piece gets loaded on the tool.

• Multiple machining spindles were provided on a single machine, known as a machining center, to carry out different natures of operations, such as turning and milling, without the necessity of loading/unloading for work piece movement between different machine tools. This is of great importance in a batch processing set up where requirement to load the job on different machines implies greater work-in-process inventory and hence a greater production planning effort.

Numerical Control: A Historical Perspective

Most of the manufacturing operations up until the middle of the last century were based on traditional machine tools powered generally by electrical supply and controlled mechanically through a system of gears and slides by the operator. Although these machines showed capability to define complex profiles on different types of work pieces, these machines required a highly skilled workforce to operate and a greater level of intervention to set them up for a particular job or machining operation. The machine itself, and also the operator, were becoming a concern for those who wanted to enhance productivity within the manufacturing environment (Kalpakjian & Schmid, 2007, p. 808). The concept of mechanization has been around for some time involving mechanical automation of repeated and simple operations on a machine but complete automation of a machine so that it is independently available to any sort of a machining job, with minimal human intervention and idle time, was still considered an impossible scenario on the shop floor.

Although automation as a concept has been quite awe inspiring in itself, enabling complex sets of operations to be completed on their own in order to provide some tangible output, the concept carried a predefined set of goals for those who were visualizing its possibility in the manufacturing industry; productivity, quality, integration and safety being some of the major ones (Kalpakjian & Schmid, 2007, p. 811). The actual machining time during which a machine tool is involved in processing a job is astonishingly small even if the loading/unloading time for the work piece is not considered. A simple turning operation on a conventional lathe implies that after the roughing cut the machine be stopped, inspection of the cut diameter, setting the tool for the next cut and then starting the machine for the cut. Whether the cut is of one inch in length or ten inches the procedural requirements remain the same. As the final or finishing cut is carried out greater intervention is required, from manual control to physical presence of the operator, to ensure the dimensional accuracy on the work piece. A job can be rendered completely useless because of even a single mistake at any step by the operator.

The nature of job complexity and the production quantity are two conflicting requirements that seldom can be separated for the convenience of the human operator. Jigs and fixtures can be developed for different jobs to facilitate tool location and path for the cutting operation but that added to the cost of the machining operation as well as an extra effort to

design and manufacture the jig or fixture. Semi-automatic machine operations were incorporated in conventional machine tools that automated the motion of tool post or worktable for a given single cut. The control was mechanically shifted to the machine tool using gears and shafts once the feed rates and speed for the cut has been set by the operator. The machine itself was becoming more complex and demanding to learn for carrying out the machining process. The control mechanisms have been developed using mechanical engineering practices but the need was to somehow make the machine capable of understanding the processing requirements of a job and then carry out the job independently without the need of the operator to set feeds, locate tool and control the tool path for the cutting operation. Mechanical faculty was practically not equipped to impart such understanding to the machine tool through which the steps of machining can be communicated to the machine.

The answer was electronics. The ability to control the flow of current and voltage through a circuit using electronic devices to generate various output signals that can be electrically sensed and mechanically realized literally changed the perspectives of possibilities in every dimension. From vacuum tubes to transistors to integrated circuits, electronics became synonymous with the term microprocessor that works on the simple principle of data input, data processing, and output. The input can be an entire program of instructions at a computer terminal or a simple click of a button on a TV remote. Once the given input is processed by the electronic circuits the output can be obtained on peripheral screen right in front or as activation of an actuation device placed at a remote location. This was the sort of communication medium that was required to automate the controls of a machine tool so that the required steps of operation can be electronically conveyed to the machine which can generate electrical signals to actuate the control mechanisms on the machine. The beginning of electronically controlling the

machine tools was, however, not that exciting as one might have expected after witnessing the present day state of the art technology.

Groover (2001) has provided a detailed account of the historical background that led to the evolution of Numerical Control systems for the purpose of machining operations. The detail has been summarized as follows to highlight the nature of initial efforts and the pioneers of a technology that brought about a revolution in the manufacturing industry (Groover, 2001, pp. 128-129). The pioneering work for the development of Numerical Control started in 1948 and is attributed mainly to John Parson and his association with the United States Air Force. He conceived the idea of using coordinate position data contained on punched cards to define and machine the surface contours of airfoil shapes. After the development work by Parson and his colleagues on their 'cardamatic' machine, so named because of the punch card, the idea was presented to the US Air Force in 1948 which signed a contract with Parson in 1949. In the same year Parson subcontracted with the Servomechanism Laboratories at the Massachusetts Institute of Technology (MIT) to carry out research and development work on his cardamatic machine. In order to accommodate required data transfer rates, punch cards were relinquished in favor of punch paper tape and the term 'Numerical Control' was adopted in 1951 for a retrofitted Cincinnati Milling Machine Company vertical Hydro-Tel milling machine. This prototype successfully performed simultaneous control of three-axis motion based on coordinate axis data punched binary tape. Although the reaction of machine tool companies to this prototype was not that keen, one company that showed its interest in the MIT work was Giddings and Lewis Machine Tool Company. This resulted in a second prototype which was a significant advancement over the first Servo Lab machine. Later, the US Air Force again came into the limelight by sponsoring development of NC machine tools at several different companies. These NC machine tools were then used by different aircraft companies between 1958 and 1960. As the advantages of NC machines became apparent and aerospace industries started showing greater interest in their usage, production of NC machine tools gained momentum involving more machine tool manufacturers to join in the research and development work of a burgeoning industry. (Groover, 2001).

One cannot help but notice the role of the defense sector in the rapid growth of the manufacturing industry especially after the end of World War II. It was particularly so because of the advent of the aerospace industry that was at that time more or less confined to pursue the objectives of military defense. To be competitive they needed to work with high strength materials and required profiling with a higher degree of accuracy and reliability (Chang, Wysk, & Wang, 2005, p.452). According to Rachel Schmidt, there were two main reasons for the specific interest in numerical control; firstly, the Air Force was concerned with the lack of capability of the conventional equipment to provide the desirable flexibility and output for aircraft production, and, secondly was the rising cost of wages and shortage of skilled manpower (Schmidt, 1988, p. 5). Although, as mentioned in the quoted text, the initial reaction of machine tool manufacturers was far from eager acceptance, the people associated with the project and their sponsor, i.e. US Air Force, had anticipated the benefits of undertaking Numerical Control as a breakthrough technology. Production jobs that characteristically facilitated the application of NC machine tools as have been identified by Groover and Zimmers, and will be discussed in a later section, included geometric complexity, high metal removal requirements, multipleoperations processing, anticipated engineering design changes in the job, 100% inspection requirements and the frequent small-sized batches for production (Groover and Zimmers, 1984, p. 146).

It was mainly due to the research work carried out at the MIT and the commitment shown by the US Air Force for the pursuance of this project that awareness of the capabilities inherent to the Numerical Control for machine tools disseminated to the machine tool manufacturers. Commercial models of the NC machines were displayed at the National Machine Tool show in 1955, and by 1957 several of these machines were installed for use in industrial applications (Luggen, 1996, p. 21). According to Heinrich Arnold, the years between 1959 and 1965 saw a rapid expansion of the NC machines (Arnold, 2001, pp. 20-21). He emphasized this by stating that the first multifunction, multipurpose machining center appeared in 1958 and by 1960 ninety different models of NC machines were available. He also identified the historical events that led to the motivation of European machine tool industries to embrace the concept of Numerical Control and later in the 1960s, as the computer technology evolved, by the Japanese industries (Arnold, 2001, pp. 17-18). Great Britain (1957) and France (1958) were the first in Europe to produce NC machine tools but commercial production was not initialized till 1960 which took some further four years in taking off (Schmidt, 1988, p. 6).

In spite of the acknowledgement of possibilities associated with Numerical Control in machine tools, a number of challenges still existed for its general acceptance. The problems with conventional NC systems have been outlined by almost every author who has discussed the subject and were indeed important in understanding the events that made the computer a more widely accepted mode to achieve machine tool automation. Groover and Zimmers (1984) have discussed these problems at length and a brief account is listed below as a set of roadblocks in the application viability of this new technology (Groover and Zimmers, 1984, p. 203):

• Elimination of part programming errors in preparing a punch tape was quite cumbersome as well as achieving the best sequence of processing steps.

• Conventional NC machines did allow in-process changes in feed or speed with the programmer forced to go for worst case scenarios. This reduced the productivity level of the machining process.

• Handling and storage of the punch tape was itself a problem.

• The controller was a hard-wired unit whose control features were generally not accessible to a change or update.

• The conventional NC system was inherently stand alone in nature with little or no information regarding operational performance to assist managerial activities at the factory, or even on the shop floor, level.

Most of these problems were solved with the advancement in electronics particularly with the advent of the computer industry. Groover (2001) has again provided some interesting historical notes, which are the main crux of this sub-section, regarding the application of digital computers for Numerical Control (Groover, 2001, pp. 128-129). He reports that the first application of the digital computer for NC processing was to perform part programming. Again MIT coordinated with USAF for research on a computer-aided part programming system with the development of "Automatically Programmed Tools" ("APT") language in the early 1960s. This APT language demonstrated greater flexibility as a medium to develop NC machine tool programs being applicable to virtually every machine tool and meeting the Air Force's specification for up to five-axis control (Schmidt, 1988, pp. 5-6).

As the computers became capable of writing part programs the next logical step was to eliminate the necessity of using a punch tape medium to communicate with the NC system. The concept of Direct Numerical Control (DNC) was conceived in the mid 1960s, in which different NC machine tools were connected to a remote mainframe computer. The instructions were directly transmitted to the individual machine tool in real time from the computer. Two companies that pioneered the development of DNC were General Electric Company and Cincinnati Milling Machine Company. The problems that surfaced were the economic feasibility of a mainframe computer at a company level and the possibility of breakdown of the central computer that could render the entire NC system of a large number of machines completely redundant.

The start of the 1970s brought with it the opportunity of using a dedicated computer at the machine tool level. Use of integrated circuits increased the computational performance while decreasing size and cost associated with the computers. The result was the use of microcomputers as the machine control units for NC machine tools that surpassed the general acceptance of its predecessor DNC in the industrial application arena.

The Proliferation of CNC Machines

Computers are a very powerful tool to process, store and disseminate data. The hardwired electronics of the NC machine were practically no match for the extent of flexibility that was to be afforded by the computers to control the machine tools. The processing capability of the computers was increasing exponentially over time and the size as well as the cost of the circuitry was diminishing at almost a similar rate. However, it was the power of the computers to disseminate the data or information that has defined the nature of opportunities associated with the application of computers within the manufacturing industry. The interaction of computers with other computers and electronic devices for the interchange of relevant information evolved the concept of networking. This interconnectivity potential of the computers led to the possibility of integration of different disciplines, from managerial to actual processing, within the

production unit. The entire manufacturing system got streamlined to the concept of automation under the influence of the power of the computers (Groover and Zimmers, 1984).

The hard-wired electronics of the machine control unit were replaced by a computer dedicated to the machine tool. This computer was used to perform the different functions of the numerical control using the software stored in its memory that can be accessed for change (Groover and Zimmers, 1984, p. 205). Tanner (1985) has especially concentrated on the enhanced interactive capability endowed to the CNC system at the man-machine interface for facilitating machine operations. He points out an essential provision of a multifunction screen to display the full operational or parametric data as a part was processed. An alphanumeric keyboard was also provided on many machines to facilitate manual data entry (Tanner, 1985). It is very interesting to note that whatever Tanner (1985) reported as anticipated features in the characteristic details for the future of CNC systems in the 1980s are a part of the current CNC Technology; this included a two or three-dimensional graphical display for viewing tool path and shop-level part programming facility to automatically convert part geometry into cutting tool path. Some of the other characteristic features that differentiated the new CNC technology from the previous units were the ability to store and edit more than one program at the machine tool, execution of high level interpolation schemes for defining tool path, cutter length and size compensation, acceleration/deceleration calculations to avoid sudden feed rate changes, communication interfaces and diagnostics (Groover, 2001, p. 130). The communication interfaces allowed the machine to be linked to other computers and computer driven devices in order to:

a) Download part programs from a central file as encountered in distributed numerical control.

b) Enable data collection related to machine operations such as work piece counts, cycle time and machine utilization.

c) Interface with peripheral equipment such as robots that load/unload parts.

As mentioned before, machine tool manufacturers also concentrated their efforts on the machine tool itself to increase the productivity of the system by making the machine capable of performing a wider range of machining operations with minimum set-up time and set-up changes (McMahon and Browne, 1998, pp. 383-384). Hitomi (1996) has contended that conventional NC/CNC included machines that were intended for a single type of machining operation such as lathe, drilling machine, milling machine etc. (Hitomi, 1996, p. 386). He further states that machining centers, originated by Kearney and Trecker Corporation in 1958, in contrast automatically performed multiple complicated operations on several faces of the work piece employing several axes of control and cutting tools. This allowed for centralizing of several production processes, simplifying process planning and scheduling requirements as well as yielding high utilization of the machine.

As outlined above the shift from the traditional hard-wired Numerical Control to the more flexible Computer Numerical Control resulted in a number of advantages for the operator at the machine level, however, to understand the scope of this technology in the manufacturing industry one needs to evaluate the influence of this technology from a broader perspective. The advantages and limitations of the CNC machine tools are therefore presented in the following paragraphs along with some major application characteristics for the technology that will need to be evaluated for the feasibility of the use of a CNC machine for a particular job.

Advantages and Limitations of CNC Machines

The advantages attributed to CNC machine tools in comparison with their NC counterparts or conventional rivals are listed below:

a) The shift to the software based CNC machines resulted in a reduction and simplification of the hardware circuits with an increased flexibility in controlling the machine operation. Also the availability of diagnostic software allowed for maintenance supervision of the machine (Narayan, Rao, & Sarcar, 2008, p. 273).

b) CNC offers complete control of all axes at all times, ensuring extremely good accuracy and repeatability, under optimum cutting conditions (Narayan, Rao, & Sarcar, 2008, p. 273).

c) The greater potential of the CNC systems to contour complex profiles make them a preferred choice particularly in aerospace, automotive and die/mold making industries. This is so because some form of computerized programming is essential for any three-dimensional tool path generation (Smid, 2003, p. 3).

d) A large number of different parts programs can be stored at the machine site and these programs are accessible at all times for editing, to debug errors or incorporate changes, and loading into the machine control unit. This makes a CNC machine more flexible to changes in engineering design and production schedules (i.e. a change in part).

e) The CNC machining systems allows the interconnectivity of machine peripheral computer with other computers in the factory network to facilitate computerized integration of different departments, i.e. design, production, distribution and management (Kalpakjian and Schmid, 2007, pp. 854).

f) Increased opportunities to accommodate newer manufacturing technologies and strategies that are inherently computer dependent as will be discussed in the next sections.

It must be pointed out that there are many other advantages that are also listed in literature which have not been included in this list, such as reduced skill requirement of the operator, lower scrap rates, lower machine idle time, simpler work and tool holding requirements, etc. This is so because this set of advantages is characteristic of the NC/CNC technology due the same principle of digital automation involved. That is why the disadvantages being discussed below are also somewhat similar to the two concepts. These disadvantages of NC/CNC systems have been discussed by Groover (2001) and are briefly outlined below (Groover, 2001, p. 145):

a) CNC machine tools are capital intensive investments due to specialized requirements of the machine tool, the electronics hardware and software requirements, and other auxiliary features and accessories that have not been associated with the conventional machine tools.

b) Higher maintenance costs and efforts due to the computers and electronics involved that also necessitates including personnel who are trained in maintaining and repairing this type of equipment.

c) Part programming is an added step for processing that is not present in the conventional machining setup.

d) Higher cost of the equipment required that higher machine utilization must be ensured including working in multiple shifts with the requirement for supervision and other support staff.

Applications

Groover (2001) has specified the following part or production characteristics for which the NC/CNC technology is most suitable. These characteristics that make this technology appropriate for low-to-medium production of medium-to-high variety parts are (Groover, 2001, p. 141):

a) Batch production: the production setup involves working in batches of small or medium lot sizes that will be uneconomical for dedicated automation because of the prohibitive cost and manual production will not be able to achieve high productivity levels, comparable to mass production systems, and will increase labor cost, lead time and scrap rate due to higher operator intervention.

b) Repeat orders: there is a tendency of producing same or similar parts in batches at random or periodic intervals requiring frequent job and set up changes. Such changes imply simply changing the part program in the machine control unit.

c) Complex part geometry: profiling of complex curved surfaces is generally not easy to achieve on conventional equipment especially where more than one axis is involved in controlling the tool trajectory.

d) High volume of metal removal: where the volume and weight of the final machined part is a relatively small fraction of the starting block.

e) Multiple machining operations on a single part: parts which require a number of different processing operations and hence different cutting tools and respective setups can benefit a lot from the use of this technology.

f) Expensive parts: when the part is expensive, whether due to a costly raw material or excessive machining requirements, mistakes in machining can render the part useless at the cost of time, effort and money.

NC/CNC technology has been applied to all types of machine tools for cutting operations as well as metal forming and non-machining operations (Groover, 2001, pp. 132-143). Not only the mainstream large scale industries that catered to the production of high-end engineering products, such as aerospace and automotive sectors, got involved in the application of CNC technology but also the auxiliary industrial sector, known as the vendor industry, was quick to join in for accommodating the requirements of their parent sectors. The accuracy and repeatability potential of CNC machine tools rendered them more suitable to facilitate technologically advanced trends in machining operations while maintaining high standards of product quality. The machine tool productivity for the machining processes was greatly increased due to minimal requirements for jigs or fixtures to facilitate work piece/tool holding or positioning and lesser requirements for setup changes needed to perform different types of machining operations. As machining centers, productivity and machine utilization got further enhanced, due to their ability to perform a number of different operations without a need to reposition the work piece, making the machine more accommodative to automatic loading/unloading of different parts and even jobs without the need for human intervention was made possible.

This meant that one of the main objectives of computerized automation of machine tools, i.e. to make the output productivity of batch-type production at par with that expected from a mass production system using dedicated machines and layout, was now a perceivable reality (Hitomi, 1996, p. 390). Economically feasible applications of CNC machine tools implied developing smart strategies to modernize the managerial agenda of a manufacturing organization. The recent time has been a witness to large scale organizational restructuring of manufacturing industries in order to maximize their benefits of shifting to CNC machine tools from their conventional or NC counterparts, a phenomenon that in its own self defined the strategic advantage and competitive survival of today's manufacturing industry.

Technology Trends Complementing CNC Proliferation

Krar and Gill, (2003) have given a detailed account of the different advanced manufacturing technologies that have developed in recent times. Although they have dealt with each of them as a separate entity most of these are associated with Computer Numerical Control in one way or the other and have paved numerous opportunities for the proliferation of CNC machine tools and systems. These technologies are briefly discussed in this section, mainly adopted from Krar and Gill (2003) to elaborate how Computer Numerical Control machining has become a common denominator in nearly all aspects of manufacturing operations at the very basic level of the machine tool itself.

- a) "High Speed Machining" ("HSM"): according to Krar and Gill (2003) the speeds involved in high speed machining (HSM) can make CNC machine centers compete with a dedicated manufacturing system, such as mass production transfer lines, by delivering such benefits as:
 - i. Producing more parts than are possible with conventional feed rates and spindle speeds.
 - Better surface finish can be achieved due to lighter cuts eliminating the need for a finishing operation like grinding.
 - Lighter depth of cut reduces the possibility of warping in large work pieces that present high-volume material removal requirements as is prevalent in the aerospace industry.
 - iv. Production of a single complex part facilitates design integration.

Pasko, Przybylski, and Slodki (2005, pp. 2-3) have reported that there are three main categories of industrial sector using HSM due to their specific requirements; these categories are:

• Machining of non-ferrous parts, mainly aluminum, for use in automotive components, small computer parts or medical devices because of the need for high metal removal rates. High rate of material removal is a characteristic requirement for those jobs that require many machining operations.

• Aerospace industry that involve machining of long aluminum parts with thin crosssection. The requirement characteristics for this category are high volume of material removal and accuracy.

• Die mold industry where working with hard materials requiring high accuracy and finish from processing operations is a normal procedure.

b) Combination tools: in order to increase productivity at the machine level, CNC machining centers have a great potential to use special tools that can combine more than one operation and operational steps into a single tool thus reducing time required to prepare the machine tool for each individual operation. These tools are inherently CNC dependent by virtue of exploiting the CNC capabilities for helical interpolation.
c) Non-Cartesian machines: as the name indicates, non-Cartesian machines have a positioning system that is not based on three different axes for the machine worktable. Instead of the conventional design of three drives placed one on top of each other to achieve target position through individual motion of each slide in a Cartesian coordinate (X-, Y- and Z-axes) workspace that promotes cumulative error, these machines are developed on a hexapod design consisting of triangular linkages that provides a literally floating worktable similar to the concept of Stewart Platform employed in flight simulators (Bray, 2002).

CNC and Factory Automation

The use of NC and CNC techniques allows the introduction of sophisticated automation that has contributed in the implementation of a number of modern manufacturing strategies at the plant or factory level (Beddoes & Bibby, 1999, p. 223). These are briefly discussed as follows:

a) Cellular manufacturing: cellular manufacturing is related to the switch from the functional plant layout, characterized by similar machines grouped together, to layout based on group technology. In this layout parts can be divided into groups on the basis of similarity in features or processing requirements, and the equipment needed to carry out all those operations are grouped together to facilitate ease of part flow and process control (McMahon and Browne, 1998, p. 427). CNC technology allows full automation of part production as well as greater coordination with auxiliary equipment to minimize the supervisory requirements of a given cell. Thus manufacturing cells can be made flexible, to a greater product variety and smaller lot sizes, in a practically unmanned, highly automated environment (Kalpakjian and Schmid, 2007, p. 873).

b) "Flexible Manufacturing System" ("FMS"): FMS allows the integration of different activities related to manufacturing into a highly automated system (Kalpakjian and Schmid, 2007, p. 874). This is based on automated manufacturing cells consisting of CNC machine tools and equipment as well as an automated material handling system that can be interconnected to handle a large part variety irrespective of the order of production of the various parts. The control of the production process is concentrated on the production of a part rather than providing a route to an entire batch of a given part through the manufacturing system.

c) Computer Aided Design and Manufacture: the influence of computers in the manufacturing industry was not restricted to only the processing aspect but also was rapidly gaining acceptance in other activities related to the product development activities. Design of products was now not a cumbersome activity involving sheets and sheets of papers to convey the engineering and processing requirements to a large number of people with a varying level of understanding. Virtual models of the product can now be built on computers that communicated the design intent in a more accessible and understandable manner to all concerned and these models can be validated for design intent using simulation software. Once validated, these models can generate the engineering drawings that will be used by the process department to generate part program for the CNC machine tools.

d) "Computer Integrated Manufacturing" ("CIM"): since every aspect of manufacturing was now being automated through the use of computers, it was becoming more and more logical to integrate the different departments involved in the manufacturing activities, from design to production and ultimate marketing of the product (Kalpakjian and Schmid, 2007, p. 854). These departments have traditionally been islands of individual responsibilities and relevant information was used to travel in a sequential or "over-the-wall" manner between them. CIM is a methodology that provided a centralized information processing facility through the interconnection of a network of computers such that the entire status of each job or event can be updated and communicated on a real-time basis. Thus as a design engineer completes the formalities related to the design task, the material and processing requirements will be generated and communicated through the information system to the relevant departments.

CNC machine tools have greatly influenced the concept of automation not only at the shop floor level but throughout the entire manufacturing system. These machines have a great potential to incorporate different advanced machining technologies to increase their competitive advantage over conventional machining processes as well as making them suitable for a larger set of complicated machining applications. It can be confidently concluded that the potential of CNC machine tools will increase and develop in future, due to the powerful impact of computers on the automation and integration of manufacturing activities, as well as their accessibility for a wider set of application areas.

The final goal of manufacturing is to create products rapidly, economically, and with high quality. CNC machines are widely used in the metal cutting industry to achieve this goal while maintaining flexible production. Although the advent of CNC in the cutting industry has given many conveniences and benefits, CNC still has many limits. For example, contemporary CNC machines often cannot anticipate the problems caused by unexpected changes in the work piece. Consequently, much research has been done to develop techniques to respond to these changes.

While in the process of metal cutting operations, if a tool fails it may harm the tool holder, the work piece, or the machine elements. Also, as machining continues and the cutting tool begins to wear, the surface quality and the dimensional correctness of the product degrade. Furthermore, tool cracking may put the operator in danger from a safety perspective, or may cause a problem in the manufacturing system.

In turning operations especially, unexpected changes in the work piece material properties can have significant negative effects on the efficiency of the operation and quality of the product. Variations in work piece hardness and dimensions can cause variation in cutting

forces, which can then lead to accelerated tool wear and even breakage. Such problems can be overcome during CNC operations by measuring the variation in hardness in the work piece and adjusting the cutting conditions to account for increased forces. However, there are limitations to in-process measurements of material hardness. Conventional hardness measurement devices require contact with the material being measured, which can be time-consuming and may damage the work piece. A method to detect variations in work piece hardness that does not rely on contact could preserve tool life without costing additional time or creating damage in the work piece. Theoretically, the spindle power required for turning operations in hard materials is higher than that required for soft materials. Therefore, a power sensor provides a novel means of detecting hardness changes in the work material without affecting the cutting process.

Adaptive Control of Machine Tools

The use of "Adaptive Control" ("AC"), to optimize production rate and product quality as well as to minimize cost, is a logical extension of the above described CNC systems (Arnone, 1998). According to Colwell, Frederick, and Quackenbush (1969), "throughout the nineteenth century and for more than half of the twentieth, adaptive control has been entirely dependent upon the skill of machine tool operators" (p. iii). The authors describe what followed as a "frantic "grasping for straws" in the search for automatic, instrumented, or mechanized adaptive control to solve the unpredictable problems which occur in manufacturing." (p. iii).

AC allows the machine to automatically adapt the operating parameters to conform to newer circumstances (Kalpakjian and Schmid, 2007). Drozda & Wick define "adaptive control" as a "method using automatic means to change the type and/or influence of control parameters to achieve near optimum processing performance (1983, p. 5-70). Davim (2008, p. 330) describes AC this way:

An adaptively controlled machine is able to adapt to the dynamic changes of the system caused by the variability of machining process due to changes in the cutting conditions such as the hardness of the work material, tool wear, deflection of the tool and the work piece, and so on.

Davim (2008, pp. 330-331) goes on to explain the main objectives of an adaptive control system as:

- to adjust the machining parameters such as cutting speeds and feed rates and/or the motion of the cutter to optimize the machining process by maximizing some performance criteria based on the cost or the production;
- to satisfy various constraints against variations due to external factors and respond to such variations in the process in real time;
- 3. to automatically improve the performance of the machining process through its learning capability.

Chapman (2004, p. 236) describes AC as a "special feature that allows for the control to automatically override the programmed feed rate under certain conditions." Chapman goes on to say that "the programmer specifies the desired cutting parameters (speed, feed, etc.) and while the machine is executing the program the control monitors the cutting load on the tool and automatically reduces the feed rate if the load becomes too high." (p. 236).

Jain and de Silva (1999) note that AC has been "extensively used in several industries including chemical, aerospace, automotive, and pulp and paper." (p. 30). Youssef and El-Hofy (2008, p. 621) describe three types of AC as:

- 1. *Adaptive control with optimization (ACO),* in which an economic index of performance is used to optimize the process using online measurements. This strategy may involve maximizing material removal rate or improving surface quality.
- 2. Adaptive control with constraints (ACC), in which the process is controlled using online measurements to maintain a particular process constraint (force, power, temperature, and so on). If the cutting force and hence the torque increases excessively, the AC system changes the speed or the feed (cutter travel), to lower the cutting force to an acceptable level. Without AC or without direct intervention of the operator (in case of conventional machining), high cutting forces may cause the tools to chip or break, or the work piece to deflect or distort excessively. As a result the accuracy and surface finish would deteriorate.
- 3. *Geometric adaptive control (GAC)*, in which the process is controlled using online measurements to maintain desired dimensional accuracy or surface finish.

Summary

This chapter has provided a thorough review of the literature pertaining to sustainable manufacturing, a rich background of machine tools, the history of computer numerical control as it pertains to machine tools, and lastly "adaptive control" as it pertains to machine tools. In the AC literature specifically, examples discussed to date suggest AC is useful in controlling work piece dimensions, the surface finish of the work piece, and the cycle time associated with machining the work piece. However, there is paucity in the literature related to how "adaptive control" might be employed to reduce the amount of energy consumed by machine tools in manufacturing. The next chapter will present the research methodology that the researcher used to carry out the study to explore the aforementioned paucity.

CHAPTER III

METHODOLOGY

Introduction

The previous chapter presented a review of the relevant literature pertaining to sustainable manufacturing, machine tools, computer numerical control, and adaptive control. The purpose of this chapter is to outline the study that was conducted to examine what factors might impact the energy efficiency of a machine in terms of reducing the amount of energy used when the machine is performing a programmed operation. It was envisioned that multiple factors may contribute to this measure of energy efficiency and they are addressed both individually and in combination or interaction with each other. The influencing independent variables studied were adaptive control, feed rate, spindle speed, depth of cut, coolant temperature, coolant flow volume, and tool condition. The research design and methodology that the researcher utilized in carrying out the study is outlined.

Data Collection

The researcher secured permission to collect the required data in an actual production environment at one of the factories that the researcher had management oversight of. The lathe chosen to be used in this research project was an Okuma LC40-2ST CNC (computer numeric control) turret lathe. A picture is provided below (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Okuma LC40-2ST CNC.

The lathe is programmed manually by a CNC programmer to generate the desired finished part geometry, while using the desired parameter values. Parameter values determine how quickly material is removed from the work piece. Feed rate is programmed in inches per revolution, and it describes the advancement of the tool in the direction of cutting; spindle speed is programmed in revolutions per minute, and describes the rate of rotation of the work piece; depth of cut is programmed in inches, and determines the amount of material removed from the surface of the work piece with each cutting pass. Additional parameters investigated as mentioned above were coolant flow volume, coolant temperature, tool condition, and adaptive control.

Each of the aforementioned parameters was set at two distinct levels during the study. "Adaptive Control" was programmed to be "on" 50% of the time and "off" the other 50% of the time. All of the other parameters listed above were programmed at a "high" level 50% of the time and a "low" level 50% of the time. Machining experts determined the exact ranges of "high" and low for each parameter taking into consideration the limits of the machine, tooling, and work piece. The ranges were sufficient to assure a distinctive difference as judged by the machining experts. It was hypothesized that adjusting the above parameters this way would impact the amount of energy required to complete the programmed operation. Tool wear and Adaptive Control were varied across two levels for all of the machine runs, but the other variables were varied on a level different than a standard machine level. Spindle speed, feed rate, depth of cut, coolant temperature, and coolant flow volume were tested one variable at a time, and not within the same machine runs. A sample of "standard" runs using the typical program set-up to machine these specific parts in normal production, were collected, and then a sample of each of the following was collected: higher spindle speed runs, higher feed rate runs, smaller depth of cut runs, lower coolant temperature runs, and lower coolant flow volume runs. There were not any machine runs that mixed different levels of these variables at one time. The below figure pictorially displays the above described research model as framed:



Figure 2. Planned research model.

Work pieces

The work pieces used for this research were forged steel (Grade 43400). The work pieces were heat treated to a Rockwell hardness range of RC 27 to 35. Their initial geometry is cylindrical, with outside diameter 6-7/8" and inside diameter 3". One end of the cylinder is open, while the other is closed. The diameter surface is roughly 16" long, the 'shoulder' is roughly 2-1/2" long, and the constant-diameter surface at the closed end of the work piece is roughly 2" long. A drawing of a typical work piece is shown below.



Figure 3. Work piece sketch.

Data Collection

The data collected for the study was done in a real production environment across 300 machine "runs" over a period of seven days. The data was collected over multiple shifts on multiple days. Machine operators never knew which variables were adjusted during any of the

so called "runs" in order to prevent operator bias. The table below displays the frequencies for each level of the influencing variables.

Table 1

Base sizes of the sample population

Number of "runs"	Ν
Low Spindle Speed	50
High Spindle Speed	50
Low Feed Rate	50
High Feed Rate	50
Small Depth of Cut	50
Large Depth of Cut	50
Low Coolant Temperature	50
High Coolant Flow Volume	50
Adaptive Control On	150
Adaptive Control Off	150
Tool Condition New	150
Tool Condition Worn	150

Proposed Research Questions

The following questions were examined during this study:

- Are there significant differences in energy used based on levels of the independent controlling variables in predicting energy used?
- 2) Do the independent variables described above have a relationship with energy used?
- 3) Can a predictive model using these variables be built that will explain a significant amount of the variability in energy used, and provide an accurate prediction given the set of parameters?

4) Does adaptive control or tool condition interact with the other independent variables when investigating the relationship with energy used?

Proposed Null and Alternative Hypotheses

The influencing variables of spindle speed, feed rate, depth of cut, coolant temperature, and flow volume were compared one level against a standard program one variable at a time. That is, spindle speed was adjusted to a higher level for some runs and a lower level for some runs while the other variables remained constant or standard. This produced a subsample of the total runs that were directly measuring spindle speed.

Since the main objective is to understand the influence that the independent variables had on energy used, a series of t-test mean comparisons were conducted first to compare the energy used averages for varying levels of spindle speed, feed rate, depth of cut, coolant temperature, flow volume, adaptive control and tool condition. Since adaptive control and tool condition was collected across all runs (on/off, new/worn), it is possible that the effects that they have on energy used may have been hindered by the fluctuations across the spindle speed, feed rate, depth of cut, coolant temperature, and flow volume levels. Adaptive control and tool condition effects on energy used were also studied within a subsample of standard runs when there were no other variables being manipulated. The following hypotheses were tested to learn what levels of the independent variables had the greatest average energy score differences:

 H_{01} : There will not be any significant mean score differences on energy used between levels of the independent variables.

 $H_{A1:}$ The levels of the independent variables will be found to have significant energy used mean score differences, and therefore the independent variables will be significant influencers of energy used.

Beyond the mean comparisons, analysis was also conducted to investigate the relationships across the variables. Conducting a regression analysis model on the total sample of runs was not possible since several of the independent variables were tested only among a subset of runs so there is systematic missing data within each run. However, models were analyzed on each of the five sub-samples. Additionally, the interaction effects between spindle speed, feed rate, depth of cut, coolant temperature, and coolant flow volume with adaptive control and tool condition were investigated. Regression analysis tables are reported that include correlation coefficients between the variables, the model ANOVA table, a summary of the regression model, and the regression coefficient tables with weights and significance levels of the variables.

Since it was believed that each of the independent variables would have an influence on energy used, all of the influencing variables were investigated in terms of their relationship with energy efficiency. The following hypotheses were tested through a correlation analysis to understand the relationship between the influencing variables and the measure of energy efficiency:

H₀₂: There is no statistically significant direct relationship between the influencing variables and the amounts of energy used during a machining cycle.
H_{A2}: There is a statistically significant direct relationship between the influencing variables and the amounts of energy used during a machining cycle.

In order to more fully understand the independent variables and their potential influence on energy efficiency, a predictive model was built using all the influencing variables as dichotomous variables predicting energy used. The regression output yielded significance levels and weights to formulate a prediction for energy used. The magnitude and significance of these weights aid in determining the potential influence each variable had in a combined model of energy used. The following hypotheses addressed the expectations of the influencing variables' predictive power:

 H_{03} : There is no statistically significant predictive model that will show a direct linear relationship between influencing variables and energy used.

H_{A3}: There is a statistically significant predictive model that will show a direct linear relationship between influencing variables and energy used.

Additionally, the levels of interaction among the independent variables were investigated. Two-way independent variable combinations or interactions were investigated between adaptive control and spindle speed, feed rate, depth of cut, coolant temperature, and coolant flow volume; and also between tool condition and spindle speed, feed rate, depth of cut, coolant temperature, and coolant flow volume. The effects of the interactions were studied in terms of their ability to aid in the prediction of energy used.

It was hypothesized that the independent variables may interact in a meaningful way and contribute to explaining variation in energy used. The following hypotheses were tested.

H₀₄: Independent variables will not be correlated significantly and will not produce statistically significant interaction effects in the energy regression models.
H_{A4}: Independent variables will significantly inter-correlated, and there will be statistically significant interaction effects in the energy regression models.

Summary of Hypotheses Testing

The following table depicts the type of data analysis performed for each of the respective

hypotheses presented in this chapter. The results of these tests are presented in the next chapter.

Table 2

Hypothesis	Description	Planned Test
1	Investigating the average energy used scores across the levels of the independent variables. Adaptive control and tool condition were investigated in total, on a sub-sample of standard runs, and within levels of spindle speed, feed rate, depth of cut, coolant temperature, and flow volume.	T-test
2	Investigating the relationship between 7 independent variables (adaptive control, feed rate, spindle speed, depth of cut, coolant temperature, coolant flow volume, and tool condition) with energy used during a machining cycle.	Correlation
3	Investigating the ability to build a significant predictive model of energy used from the independent variable sub-samples.	Regression
4	Investigating the relationship between the levels of the influencing variables to understand any potential interaction effect among adaptive control and tool condition with spindle speed, feed rate, depth of cut, coolant temperature, and flow volume.	Regression

Selection of Alpha

Alpha is the probability of committing a Type I error – that is rejecting the null

hypothesis, H_0 , when it is true. The alpha for this study is set to 0.05 – that is the 5 percent level.

This level was chosen in order to obtain a 95% confidence which the researcher determined to be

the appropriate confidence level for this study. A higher level of confidence was determined not
to be needed and would have required more samples which would have cost additional money to collect. Had this study focused on product geometries and dimensional accuracy viewed as critical, a higher confidence level would have been chosen.

Statistical Assumptions

Assumptions regarding the sample population include:

- Normality. The population of values for each combination of independent variables is normally distributed.
- 2. Equal Variances. The populations in Assumption 1 all have the same variance.
- Independence. The dependent variables used in the analyses are independent. This typically means that each observed y value must be from a separate subject or entity.

Summary

This chapter began by presenting the framework for the proposed study designed to examine the influencing variables on energy efficiency, specifically the amount of energy used during machining. The null and alternative hypotheses that the researcher explored were presented. The next chapter will present the analysis of the data and the resultant findings from the tests conducted.

CHAPTER IV

ANALYSIS

Introduction

The previous chapter presented the framework for the research study as well as the research design and methodology that the researcher employed in carrying out the study. The respective research questions and hypotheses were outlined. The profile of the data was presented. This chapter will present the analysis results from the statistical tests conducted as it pertains to the hypotheses presented.

Data Description

As was described in the previous chapter, the data collected for the study was done in a real production environment across 300 machine "runs" over multiple shifts on multiple days. Machine operators never knew which variables were adjusted during any of the so called "runs" in order to prevent operator bias. Adaptive control and tool condition varied on two levels across all 300 machine runs. The other independent variables varied on one level versus a standard program. For data coding in SPSS, the following codes were used:

Adaptive Control: 1 = "on"; 2 = "off"

Tool Condition: 1 = new edge (first fifteen cuts); 2 = worn edge (all cuts after fifteen) Spindle Speed: 1 = Low (800 revolutions per minute – "RPM"); 2 = High (1000 RPM); Feed Rate: 1 = Low (381 mm per revolution); 2 = High (419 mm per revolution) Depth of Cut: 1 = Low (2mm); 2 = High (4mm) Coolant Temp: 1 = Low (ambient temperature less 10°); 2 = High (ambient temperature) Coolant Volume: 1 = Low (one gallon per minute); 2 = High (four gallons per minute) The tables below show the pairings of those levels with the standard program machine

runs.

Table 3

Independent Variable Pairings

Adaptive Control	Ν
Adaptive Control On	150
Adaptive Control Off	150
Tool Condition	N
Tool Condition New	150
Tool Condition Worn	150
Spindle Speed	Ν
(A)Standard Program	50
(B)Higher Spindle Speed	50
Feed Rate	Ν
(A)Standard Program	50
(C)Higher Feed Rate	50
<u>Depth of Cut</u>	Ν
(A)Standard Program	50
(D)Smaller Depth of Cut	50
<u>Coolant Temperature</u>	Ν
(A)Standard Program	50
(E)Lower Coolant Temperature	50
Coolant Flow Volume	N
(A)Standard Program	50
(F)Lower Coolant Flow Volume	50

In terms of the dependent variable, power used, the table below displays the base, range,

average and standard deviation.

Descriptive Statistics

Table 4

Dependent Variable Descriptive Statistics

	Ν	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	Std. Deviation	Skewness
Power Used	300	131.7	720.1	360.4	153.2	.564

The dependent variable, power used, median's value was 340.6, which is slightly lower than the mean indicating there is some positive skewness in the variable. The chart below illustrates that there is a large amount of runs that were in a 200-250 watt hours range and only a few runs over 700 watt hours.



Figure 4. Histogram of Dependent Variable "Energy Used".

According to von Hippel, "since many statistical inferences assume that variables are symmetrically or even normally distributed, those inferences can be inaccurate if applied to a variable that is skewed" (as cited in Lovric, 2010, p. 1341). Von Hippel goes on to say that "inferences grow more accurate as the sample size grows, with the required sample size depending on the amount of skew and the desired level of accuracy" (as cited in Lovric, 2010, p. 1341). Since, as previously reported above, the alpha for this study was set to 0.05 in order to obtain a 95% confidence level. Von Hippel states that for a 95% confidence level, "a sample of fifty observations should be plenty even if the skew is as large as 2 or -2" (as cited in Lovric, 2010, p. 1342). As seen in Table 4 above, the skewness value for this sample was only 0.564 and the sample size was 300, therefore the inferences drawn from the analysis presented below can be viewed as accurate, despite the small amount of skewness.

Tests of the Hypotheses

As noted in the previous chapter, the first research question to be examined was whether or not there are statistically significant differences in energy used based on levels of the independent controlling variables in predicting energy used. It was hypothesized that energy used would be significantly different within levels of adaptive control, tool condition, spindle speed, feed rate, depth of cut, coolant temperature, and flow volume. The null hypothesis to be tested is:

 H_{01} : $\mu 1 = \mu 2$ There will not be a statistically significant difference in mean scores on energy used between levels of the independent variables.

 $H_{A1:} \mu 1 \neq \mu 2$ There will be a statistically significant difference in mean scores on energy used between levels of the independent variables.

75

The tables below display the results of the t-tests of significance on these variables.

Table 5

Independent Variable T-test Statistics

						construction providence in the rest of the rest of the reg
	Adaptive Control	NI	м	Std.		
Powerlised	1.00.4C off	150	Mean 306 0	Deviation	t-value	sig
Fower Osed	1.00 AC 61	150	390.9	102.4	4 246	< 0001
	2.00 AC on	150	323.8	134.2	1.210	
	Tool Condition			Std.		
		N	Mean	Deviation	t-value	sig
Power Used	1.00 Worn edge	150	368.4	156.8	0.000	0.000
	2.00 New Edge	150	352.4	149.6	0.906	0.366
	Feed Rate			Std.		
		N	Mean	Deviation	t-value	sig
Power Used	(A)Standard Program	50	453.0	91.1	0.454	0.070
	(C)Higher Feed Rate	50	455.3	56.6	-0.154	0.878
	Spindle Speed	N	Mean	Std. Deviation	t-value	sia
Power Used	(A)Standard Program	50	453.0	91.1		U.g
	(B)Higher Spindle Speed	50	563.3	113.1	-5.737	<.000
L		_ I			-J	
	Depth of Cut	-		Std.		
	20	N	Mean	Deviation	t-value	sig
Power Used	(A)Standard Program	50	453.0	91.1	12 105	< 000
	(D)Smaller Depth of Cut	50	265.2	61.1	12.105	<.000
	Coolant Temperature	N	N di maman	Std.	A TOTAL OF A DECIMAL	
Power Used	(A)Standard Program	50 N	453.0	Deviation 91.1	t-value	sig
r ottor obou		50	400.0	01.1	17 770	2 000
	(E)Lower Coolant Temperature	50	218.2	20.8	17.776	<.000
		•	·			•
	Coolant Flow	N	Mean	Std. Deviation	t-value	sia
Power Used	(A)Standard Program	50	453.0	91.1		
	(F)Lower Coolant Flow Volume	50	207.1	30.2	18.118	<.000

The results suggest that Adaptive Control achieved statistically significant mean differences on power use along independent variables of Spindle Speed, Depth of Cut, Coolant Temperature, and Coolant Flow while Tool Condition and Feed Rate did not. The table below summarizes whether or not the null hypothesis was rejected or failed to be rejected for each

variable:

Table 6

Independent Variables Effect on Energy Used

Significantly less energy used:	No significant difference on energy
Adaptive Control On – rejected null	Tool Condition - failed to reject the null
Lower Spindle Speed – rejected null	Feed Rate - failed to reject the null
Smaller Depth of Cut – rejected null	
Lower Coolant Temperature – rejected null	
Lower Coolant Volume – rejected null	

Since many of the variables can fluctuate within levels of adaptive control and tool condition, adaptive control and tool condition can be analyzed within standard runs in order to more clearly measure their unique effects on energy. There were 50 standard runs within the sample. The following table displays and tests the energy scores within levels of adaptive control and tool condition on this sub-sample.

Table 7

Energy Used comparison within levels of Adaptive Control and Tool Condition

	Adaptive Control				Std.
			Ν	Mean	Deviation
Power Used		1.00 AC off	25	434.1	93.2
		2.00 AC on	25	472.0	86.6
	Difference			-37.9	
			t=-1.489	sig =.143	

Tool Co	ondition			Std.
ATTAGANDAGE STOCK		N	Mean	Deviation
Power Used	1.00 Worn edge	25	468.6	96.0
	2.00 New edge	25	437.4	84.9
Differe	ence		31.2	
		t=-1.218	sia =.229	

The above results reflect that there is no statistically significant energy difference among levels of tool condition and adaptive control, thus failure to reject the null hypothesis. There is a difference in energy averages when adaptive control is "on" versus "off" among the standard programs, but in a different direction than previously found across all runs when the other variables were allowed to fluctuate. In total, within the 150 runs where Adaptive Control was turned "on", the amount of power used was significantly lower than in the 150 runs when Adaptive Control was "off". In this case, the null hypothesis was rejected. Among the standard runs, when Adaptive Control is "on", the amount of power used is higher, although this difference is not statistically significant, thus failure to reject the null hypothesis. When the other independent variables were not allowed to fluctuate, as isolated in the standard runs, the results above reflect, Adaptive Control's relationship with five of the independent variables indicates it can be an efficient controlling variable of power used.

The second hypothesis moves beyond the group mean differences to investigate the relationship between the influencing variables and energy used. Given the results of the t-test on differences by the levels of the independent variables, it was hypothesized that there would be a significantly linear relationship between the independent variables and the dependent variable of energy used. The null hypothesis from Chapter 3 states:

 H_{02} : $\beta_j = 0$ There is no statistically significant direct relationship between the influencing variables and the amounts of energy used during a machining cycle.

 H_{A2} : $\beta_j \neq 0$ There is a statistically significant direct relationship between the influencing variables and the amounts of energy used during a machining cycle.

78

The relationship is measured through a Pearson Product Moment Coefficient, reflected in the below table displaying the resulting relationships (r-value), with corresponding significance levels (p-values). A full correlation matrix among the variables can be found in Appendix A. *Table 8*

	Amone Sample	g Total (n=300)	Isolated correlation between standard program and test program (n=100)		
Power Used	r	p-value	r	p-value	
Spindle Speed	.593	< .000	.477	< .000	Higher Spindle Speed/More Energy Used
Feed Rate	.278	< .000	.016	.878	
Depth of Cut	.278	< .000	.774	< .000	Higher Depth of Cut/Higher Energy Used
Coolant Temp	.416	< .000	.874	< .000	Higher Coolant Temperature/Higher Energy Used
Coolant Volume	.448	< .000	.878	< .000	Higher Coolant Flow Volume/Higher Energy Used
Adaptive Control	239	< .000			Adaptive Control On/Lower Energy Used
Tool Condition	052	.366			

Correlations between independent variables and energy used

The correlation between Adaptive Control and energy used is significant and negative, implying that when Adaptive Control is "on", the amount of energy being used is lower, thus the null hypothesis is rejected. If the correlation between Adaptive Control and energy used is calculated only among the 50 standard machine runs, it is an opposite direction, (r=.210/p=.143), implying that when Adaptive Control is "on", energy used is higher, although this relationship is not significantly different from no correlation and the null hypothesis could not be rejected, similar to what was found in the comparison of mean scores on power used by Adaptive Control levels.

The variables spindle speed, depth of cut, coolant temperature and coolant flow volume show positive correlation values with energy used, with coolant temperature and volume having the strongest relationship with power used. (r= .874, and r= .878, respectively), so the null hypothesis is rejected for each. The magnitude of these correlations suggests that lower coolant temperature and lower coolant flow volume have a strong relationship with lower amounts of energy used. Conversely, feed rate was not found to have a significant correlation thus the null could not be rejected for this variable.

In order to better understand the relationships between these variables and the effects on energy used, the next hypotheses measured the predictability of energy used among these variables in five separate data sub-sets. Since spindle speed, feed rate, depth of cut, coolant temperature, and flow volume were not varied within the same machine run, there is a valid set of runs for each of these variables. Since adaptive control and tool condition was collected across all machine runs, they can be included in each sub-set of data. Each of these subsets is defined below:

Table 9

Sub-sample Definitions			
1 (Program A and B)	Spindle Speed/Adaptive control/Tool condition	100	
2 (Program A and C)	Feed Rate/Adaptive control/Tool condition	100	
3 (Program A and D)	Depth of Cut/Adaptive control/Tool condition	100	
4 (Program A and E)	Coolant Temperature/Adaptive control/Tool condition	100	
5 (Program A and F)	Coolant Volume/Adaptive control/Tool condition	100	

Predictability of Energy Used Subsets

Hypotheses 3 and 4 will be tested within each of these sub-samples. Hypothesis 3 will be testing the relationship of the independent variables in a regression model of energy used, and hypothesis 4 will test if there are significant interaction effects among the variables in the

regression model. The results will be presented together by sub-sample, and full regression tables are displayed in Appendix B. Hypothesis 3 from Chapter 3 is restated here:

 H_{03} : There is no statistically significant predictive model that will show a direct linear relationship between influencing variables and energy used.

H_{A3}: There is a statistically significant predictive model that will show a direct linear relationship between influencing variables and energy used.

A mathematical equation representing hypothesis 3 would look like this:

 $\gamma_{(V1)} = \beta_0 + \beta X_{AC} + \beta X_{V2} + \beta X_{V3} + \beta X_{V(2,3)} + e$

Rephrasing the third hypothesis by incorporating the specific variables would look like this:

 H_{03} : Machine runs with or without Adaptive Control, Spindle Speed (V2), Tool Condition (V3), and AC Spindle Interaction ($V_{(2,3)}$) will *not* significantly explain the variance in Energy Consumption (V1).

 H_{A3} : Machine runs with or without Adaptive Control, Spindle Speed (V2), Tool Condition (V3), and AC Spindle Interaction ($V_{(2,3)}$) will significantly explain the variance in Energy Consumption (V1).

The first sub-sample tested uses spindle speed, along with adaptive control and tool condition, and the interaction between adaptive control and spindle speed to predict energy used. The F-value of the regression model is significant (F=45.052/sig.<.000) thus the null hypothesis is rejected and the alternative hypothesis would be tenable, and the R-square value is fairly high (R-square=.655). Within this sample of 100 machine runs, about 66% of the variation in energy used can be explained by spindle speed, adaptive control, tool condition and the interactions among these variables. The table below displays the regression coefficients and their significance to the overall energy model.

Table 10

Model						
		Unstandardized Coefficients		Standardized Coefficients		
		В	Std. Error	Beta	t	Sig.
1	(Constant)	-36.667	74.121		495	.622
	Spindle Speed	472.200	44.215	2.042	10.680	.000
	Adaptive Control	278.140	44.176	1.203	6.296	.000
	Tool Condition	-25.229	13.998	109	-1.802	.075
	AC Spindle Interaction	-241.254	27.973	-2.273	-8.625	.000

Regression Analysis of Spindle Speed/Adaptive control/Tool condition

The table shows that adaptive control, spindle speed, and the interaction of these 2 variables are significant predictors of energy used. The significant interaction implies that the combination of these 2 variables help predict the amount of energy used. The interaction is calculated by multiplying these variables together to form a new variable. The values of these variables are on a 1-2 scale, so the range of the interaction is 1-4. A value of 4 is a run with both adaptive control on, and a higher spindle speed. This situation can provide additional information beyond the singular influence of adaptive control and spindle speed. The regression equation for these results is: $\hat{y} = -36.667 + 472.2SS + 278.14AC - 25.229TC - 241.254ACS$ where " \hat{y} " is Energy Used, "SS" is Spindle Speed, "AC" is Adaptive Control, "TC" is Tool Condition and "ACS" is Adaptive Control Spindle interaction.

The next group analyzed used feed rate, along with adaptive control, and tool condition across 100 machine runs. Since feed rate was the lowest independent variable correlated with energy used, it was not expected that this model would be very strong. The results show a low, but significant F-value (F=5.665 / sig. < .000), thus the null hypothesis is rejected and the

alternative hypothesis would be tenable. The R-square value for this model is relatively low, but still meaningful (R-square = .193), reflecting a correlation approximately 19.3% of the time. The table below displays the regression coefficients for the variables and their interactions.

Table 11

Regression Analysis of Feed Rate/Adaptive control/Tool condition

Coefficients								
Model		Unstandardized Coefficients		Standardized Coefficients				
		В	Std. Error	Beta	t	Sig.		
1	(Constant)	234.265	72.522		3.230	.002		
	Feed Rate	183.419	43.782	1.221	4.189	.000		
	Adaptive Control	158.069	43.786	1.053	3.610	.000		
	Tool Condition	-13.787	13.856	092	995	.322		
	AC Feed Rate interaction	-120.726	27.690	-1.752	-4.360	.000		

The above table shows that adaptive control, feed rate, and the interaction of these two variables are statistically significant and may be predictors of energy used. The significant interaction implies that the combination of these two variables help predict the amount of energy used. The interaction is calculated by multiplying these variables together to form a new variable as was done with spindle speed. The values of these variables are on a 1-2 scale, so the range of the interaction is 1-4. A value of 4 is a run with both adaptive control on, and a higher feed rate. Again, this provides additional information beyond the singular influence of adaptive control and feed rate speed. The regression equation for these results is: $\hat{y} = 234.265 + 23$ 183.419FR + 158.069AC - 13.787TC - 120.726ACFR where "ŷ" is Energy Used, "FR" is Feed Rate, "AC" is Adaptive Control, "TC" is Tool Condition and "ACFR" is Adaptive Control Feed Rate interaction.

The next sub-sample was based on 100 machine runs, and includes the depth of cut in the analysis. The F-value from the ANOVA table for this regression model is significant (F=52.534/sig. < .000), thus the null hypothesis is rejected and the alternative hypothesis would be tenable. The interaction term for this variable, as well as for coolant temperature and volume was calculated a bit differently. These variables are on a scale of 1-2 where 1=low, and 2=high. For depth of cut, coolant temperature and volume, high levels (2) are the standard program, and the variation or tested levels for these variables is a 'low' (1). To calculate the interaction term for this variable, if these variables are at a high level (2) and AC is off, the interaction term=1. If either the AC is on, or these variables are set to low, the interaction term equals 2. If these levels are set to low and AC is on, then the interaction term equals 4.

The coefficient table, which is displayed below, shows a significant interaction effect between adaptive control and depth of cut, although the individual significance for depth of cut is non-significant. This suggests that even though depth of cut has a good relationship with power used (r=.774) when used in a regression equation, its ability to predict power used becomes redundant when adaptive control and the interaction with adaptive control are taken into account. The summary table below shows that the significant predictors of this model are adaptive control and the interaction between adaptive control and depth of cut. The relationship formed between adaptive control and depth of cut is more significant than depth of cut isolated on its own. The regression equation for these results is: $\hat{y} = 431.325 - 8.592DC + 168.356AC - 11.516TC -$ 130.922ACDC where " \hat{y} " is Energy Used, "DC" is Depth of Cut, "AC" is Adaptive Control, "TC" is Tool Condition and "ACDC" is Adaptive Control Depth of Cut interaction.

Table 12

Regression Analysis of Depth of Cut/Adaptive control/Tool condition

connointe								
Model		Unstandardized Coefficients		Standardized Coefficients				
		В	Std. Error	Beta	t	Sig.		
1	(Constant)	431.325	71.821		6.006	.000		
	Depth of Cut	-8.592	43.948	035	196	.845		
	Adaptive Control	168.356	43.948	.694	3.831	.000		
	Tool Condition	-11.516	13.899	047	829	.409		
	AC Depth of Cut Interaction	-130.922	27.798	-1.176	-4.710	.000		

Coefficients

As it was previously noted from the correlations with energy used, coolant temperature and coolant flow volume show strong correlation values with energy used. It is expected that the regression models for these variables with the addition of adaptive control, tool condition and interaction variables will yield strong predictive models of energy. Coolant temperature was calculated across 100 runs, and the results of the sub-sample regression for this group are displayed below. The F-values for these models are the highest of all of the sub-sample regressions.

Table 13

Regression Analysis of Coolant Temperature/Adaptive control/Tool condition

Model		Unstandardized Coefficients		Standardized Coefficients		
		В	Std. Error	Beta	t	Sig.
1	(Constant)	193.066	68.710		2.810	.006
	Coolant Temp	113.766	40.293	.423	2.823	.006
	Adaptive Control	117.989	40.205	.439	2.935	.004
	Tool Condition	-15.655	12.839	058	-1.219	.226
	AC Coolant Temp interaction	-80.720	25.492	654	-3.167	.002

Coefficients

For this regression model, adaptive control, coolant temperature, and the interaction of the two, carry significant weight in the prediction of energy used. The F-value for this model is very high, and significant (F=88.169.06/sig. < .000), thus the null hypothesis is rejected and the alternative hypothesis would be tenable, and the R-square value is also high (R-square = .788). The regression weights and correlations show that there is a direct pattern between the variables and energy used. When adaptive control is 'on', energy is lower. When coolant temperature is lower, energy used is lower; and in runs when adaptive control is on and coolant temperature is lower, energy used is lower. The regression equation for these results is: $\hat{y} = 193.066 + 113.766CT + 117.989AC - 15.655TC - 80.72ACCT$ where " \hat{y} " is Energy Used, "CT" is Coolant Temperature, "AC" is Adaptive Control, "TC" is Tool Condition and "ACCT" is Adaptive Control Coolant Temperature interaction.

Coolant flow volume shares a similar relationship with energy used. The last sub-sample is a group of 100 runs where coolant flow volume is adjusted (lower coolant flow volume vs.

higher coolant flow volume). The regression model includes coolant flow volume, adaptive control, tool condition and interaction variable. The F-value is very high (F=95.9565 / sig. < .000), thus the null hypothesis is rejected and the alternative hypothesis would be tenable, and the R-square value is .802. The results for this regression also show a significant interaction effect with adaptive control. The regression coefficient table is displayed below.

Table 14

Regression Analysis of Coolant Volume/Adaptive control/Tool condition

Model						
		Unstandardized Coefficients		Standardized Coefficients		
		В	Std. Error	Beta	t	Sig.
1	(Constant)	170.544	64.046		2.663	.009
	Coolant Volume	130.000	42.114	.464	3.087	.003
	Adaptive Control	114.272	41.328	.408	2.765	.007
	Tool Condition	-22.030	13.776	079	-1.599	.113
	AC Coolant Volume Interaction	-77.258	26.746	601	-2.889	.005

Coefficients

As seen in the coolant temperature analysis, there are significant regression weights for adaptive control, coolant flow volume and the interaction between the two variables. When both coolant flow volume is low, and adaptive control is on, energy used is lower. The regression equation for these results is: $\hat{y} = 170.544 + 130CV + 114.272AC - 22.03TC - 77.258ACCV$ where " \hat{y} " is Energy Used, "CV" is Coolant Volume, "AC" is Adaptive Control, "TC" is Tool Condition and "ACCV" is Adaptive Control Coolant Volume interaction.

The table below displays summary results on all the sub-sample regression models.

Table 15

						Significant AC
Model	Definition	N	R-square	F-value	sig	interaction
Among Program A and B	Spindle Speed, AC, Tool condition, AC interaction with Spindle speed	100	0.655	45.052	<.000	*
Among Program A and C	Feed Rate, AC, Tool condition, AC interaction with Feed rate	100	0.193	5.665	<.000	*
Among Program A and D	Depth of Cut, AC, Tool condition, AC interaction with Depth of cut	100	0.689	52.534	<.000	*
Among Program A and E	Coolant Temperature, AC, Tool condition, AC interaction with Coolant temperature	100	0.788	88.169	<.000	*
Among Program A and F	Coolant Volume, AC, Tool condition, AC interaction with Coolant volume	100	0.802	95.956	<.000	*

Summary Results on all the Sub-sample Regression Models

The regression results complement the initial t-tests and the correlational analysis by reinforcing that the following variables are significant and meaningful: spindle speed, depth of cut, coolant temperature, coolant flow volume, and adaptive control. The regression analysis further analyzes the interaction terms and shows that spindle speed, depth of cut, coolant temperature, and coolant flow volume all have a significant interaction effect with adaptive control. These interactions are investigated to understand the overall magnitude of the relationship between adaptive control and the other influencing variables. The table below displays the average amount of energy used for the levels of interaction.

Table 16

Interaction with Adaptive Control and the Effect on Energy Used

		Power
		Used
		Average
	Adaptive control off and lower spindle speed	434.1
Interaction between adaptive control and spindle speed (n=100)	Either adaptive control on or higher spindle speed	569.5
	Adaptive control on and higher spindle speed	459.6
	Adaptive control off and lower feed rate	434.1
Interaction between adaptive control and feed rate (n=100)	Either adaptive control on or higher feed rate	484.4
	Adaptive control on and higher feed rate	413.9
	Adaptive control off/larger depth of cut	434.1
Interaction between adaptive	Either adaptive control on or smaller depth of cut	392.1
control and depth of cut (n=100)	Adaptive control on and smaller depth of cut	218.3
Internation between adaptive	Adaptive control off and higher coolant temperature	434.1
control and coolant temperature $(n-100)$	Adaptive control on or lower coolant temperature	355.1
(n=100)	Adaptive control on and lower coolant temperature	198.0
T. 4	Adaptive control off and higher coolant flow volume	434.1
control and coolant volume $(n-100)$	Adaptive control on or lower coolant flow volume	352.5
(II-100)	Adaptive control on and lower coolant flow volume	181.3

The Interac	tion with Adap	tive Control and	the Effect on	Energy Used
--------------------	----------------	------------------	---------------	-------------

The mean scores above were analyzed using an ANOVA in order to understand if the changes in energy used by the levels of interaction are significant. The results of each analysis of variance test are presented in the tables below and full ANOVA tables and follow-up test results are displayed in Appendix C. This analysis was conducted to test hypothesis 4 from Chapter 3, which is stated again here:

H₀₄: Independent variables will not be correlated significantly and will not produce statistically significant interaction effects in the energy regression models.

H_{A4}: Independent variables will significantly inter-correlated, and there will be

statistically significant interaction effects in the energy regression models.

A mathematical equation representing hypothesis 4 would look like this:

 $\gamma_{(V1)} = \beta_0 + \beta X_{AC} + \beta X_{V2} + \beta X_{V3} + \beta X_{V(2, 3)} + e$

Table 17

Interaction with Adaptive Control and the Effect on Energy Used

		Power Used		
		Mean	F	sig
Interaction between adaptive control and spindle speed	Adaptive control off and lower spindle speed	434.1		
	Either adaptive control on or high spindle speed	569.5	19.552	<.000
	Adaptive control on and high spindle speed	459.6		
Interaction between adaptive	Adaptive control off and lower feed rate	434.1		
control and feed rate	Either adaptive control on or higher feed rate	484.4	9.972	<.000
	Adaptive control on and higher feed rate	413.9		
Interaction between adaptive	Adaptive control off/low depth of cut	434.1		
control and depth of cut	Either adaptive control on or high depth of cut	392.1	42.933	.038
	Adaptive control on and high depth of cut	218.3		
Interaction between adaptive control and coolant temperature	Adaptive control off and low coolant temperature	434.1		
	Adaptive control on or high coolant temperature	355.1	33.255	<.000
	Adaptive control on and high coolant temperature	198.0		
Interaction between adaptive control and coolant volume	Adaptive control off and low coolant flow volume	434.1		
	Adaptive control on or high coolant flow volume	352.5	36.967	<.000
	Adaptive control on and high coolant flow volume	181.3		

Investigating the interaction with Adaptive Control

For spindle speed, follow-up tests show that the amount of energy used is significantly higher in the machine runs where adaptive control is on or spindle speed is high, thus the null

hypothesis is rejected and the alternative hypothesis would be tenable. For depth of cut, followup tests show that the amount of power used is significantly higher when adaptive control is on, and depth of cut is high, thus the null hypothesis is rejected and the alternative hypothesis would be tenable. For feed rate, follow-up tests show that the amount of power used is significantly higher when adaptive control is on, and feed rate is high, thus the null hypothesis is rejected and the alternative hypothesis would be tenable. Coolant temperature and volume share the same pattern and results. Power used is significantly higher when adaptive control is on, and coolant temperature or volume is high, thus the null hypotheses are rejected here as well. Having adaptive control on or a high amount of coolant temperature or volume uses significantly more power than runs with adaptive control off and a low coolant temperature or volume.

Summary of Results

The initial hypothesis focused on uncovering group differences among several independent variables. It was hypothesized that these independent variables would influence the amount of energy used in machine runs. The t-tests found that there were significantly different amounts of energy used across levels of adaptive control, spindle speed, depth of cut, coolant temperature, and coolant flow volume, thus the null hypotheses were rejected for these variables.

Given these results, correlational analysis was conducted to get a measurement of the linear relationship between these variables and energy used. It was again hypothesized that these independent variables would have a linear relationship with energy used, and as the levels of the independent variables were manipulated, energy levels would change. The results show that the same variables, adaptive control, spindle speed, depth of cut, coolant temperature, and coolant flow volume, all had a significant correlation with energy used, thus the null hypotheses were rejected for these variables.

91

Finally, to more fully understand the independent variables and their interactions with each other, regression analysis was conducted. Since five of the independent variables were gathered independently of each other, the regression analysis was run on five sub-samples of machine runs. Within each regression analysis, 3 independent variables were used to predict energy used. Adaptive control and tool condition were collected across all runs, so they are able to be analyzed in each regression analysis. Spindle speed, feed rate, depth of cut, coolant temperature, and coolant flow volume were analyzed in separate regression models. The interaction effects between the variable and adaptive control was also included in the regression model to investigate possible interactive relationships that would impact energy use.

Each of the five regression models had significant F-values in the regression ANOVA table, thus the null hypotheses were rejected, and the significance of the independent variables mirrored the correlational analysis. Depth of cut was independently not as directly related with energy used, although its interaction with adaptive control was a strong predictor. The other variables: spindle speed, feed rate, coolant temperature and coolant flow volume were strong predictors of energy used.

Interestingly, adaptive control interacted significantly with all five of the independent variables when predicting energy used. The t-test results show that when adaptive control is on, energy used is significantly lower, although the other independent variables were allowed to fluctuate within the 2 groups. When isolated, keeping all other independent variables constant, having adaptive control on, increases energy used. The interaction between adaptive control and spindle speed, feed rate, depth of cut, coolant temperature, and coolant flow volume further shows that the effects of adaptive control are heightened when combined with the levels of speed, cut, temperature, and volume.

92

The results of the analysis are in general agreement with the hypotheses – the independent variables influence energy used. There were little to no differences in energy used among varying levels of tool condition, but the other independent variables proved to be significant influencers of energy used. Coolant temperature and coolant flow volume are strongly linked to energy used. Adaptive control shows differences in energy when turned on vs. off, and also shows that it interacts significantly with other variables.

Summary

This chapter presented the analysis results from the statistical tests conducted as it pertains to the respective hypotheses presented. The next chapter will present the discussion of the above findings along with the managerial implications of them. Additionally, limitations of the study will be addressed as well as recommendations for future research. Finally, an overall conclusion will be made to summarize the project.

CHAPTER V

CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Introduction

The previous chapter presented the analysis results from the statistical tests conducted as it pertains to the respective hypotheses presented. This chapter will revisit the originally stated purpose of the study and then present the discussion of the findings from the previous chapter. Implications for academic research as well as implications for practitioners will be addressed. Additionally, limitations of the study as well as recommendations for future research will be posited. Finally, an overall conclusion will be made to summarize the project.

Purpose of the Study Revisited

As previously mentioned, according to Richter (2009), "reducing the amount of energy the motors on a metal cutting machine tool use is one way for a manufacturer to increase its competitiveness...while "greening" its operations". Richter points out that the majority of energy consumed by manufacturers is in motor energy consumption on machines. Therefore targeting methods to reduce the amount of energy consumed by motors on machine tools, an effective approach to becoming a more sustainable or "greener" manufacturer, was the primary focus of this study.

Field research was conducted directed at reducing the amount of energy consumed by the motors on machine tools used in manufacturing through the employment of "adaptive control" technology. "Adaptive control" was the primary influencing independent variable researched. In addition to "adaptive control," other influencing independent variables explored included feed rate, spindle speed, depth of cut, coolant temperature, coolant flow volume, and tool condition. The dependent variable that was the focus of this research was the amount of energy used during

a chosen machining cycle measured in kilowatt hours which is a common unit of measure for energy found in other research such as Ulmer and Ollison (2008).

Discussion of the Research Findings

Most of the variables speculated/hypothesized to have an influence on energy were shown to have significant findings. Multiple methods of analysis reinforced the significant independent variables influencing the dependent variable "energy used" were adaptive control, spindle speed, feed rate, depth of cut, coolant temperature, and coolant flow volume. T-tests found significant mean differences on "energy used" between levels of these variables. These variables also significantly correlated with energy used – meaning they move together (when one goes up/the other goes up), as reflected here:

Higher Spindle Speed/More Energy Used Higher Feed Rate/More Energy Used Higher Depth of Cut/Higher Energy Used Higher Coolant Flow Volume/Higher Energy Used Adaptive Control On/Lower Power Used Higher Coolant Temperature/Higher Energy Used

Out of the above findings, they all made sense logically to the researcher, except the last one. One would expect a higher demand for energy if the spindle speed were to be increased. A higher feed rate puts more load on the machine's motors thus increasing energy, as would a higher (deeper) depth of cut. In order to increase coolant flow, the coolant pump motor has to run faster thus increasing the amount of energy required. And, since adaptive control is shown to reduce cycle time, here again it would seem reasonable that less energy would be required. However, in order to have a higher coolant temperature, the machine's coolant chiller was turned off. Logically, a reduction in energy would be expected, thus this finding is counterintuitive.

Interestingly, when evaluating adaptive control in its purest form (among the standard runs only – all other variables held constant) the relationship is reversed from the overall findings. Overall, among all 300 runs, the average amount of energy used when adaptive control is on is 0.324 kwh, compared to 0.397 kwh when adaptive control is off. This was a significant difference and shows that when adaptive control is on, energy used is lower, which is exactly what the researcher expected to find. However, if adaptive control is looked at only within standard runs (so there is no fluctuation in depth of cut, spindle speed, etc.), then the results are opposite. The average amount of energy used in the standard runs when adaptive control is on is 0.472 kwh as compared to 0.434 kwh when adaptive control is off among the isolated 50 runs. The correlations support this as well. The correlation between adaptive control and energy used in total across all runs is r = -.239 (when adaptive control is on, there tends to be a lower amount of energy used). The correlations within the standard runs only is r = .210 (when adaptive control is on, there tends to be a higher amount of energy used). This is completely surprising given that the expectation of the use of adaptive control is that it would result in the machine requiring less energy. Apparently, without the influence of the other independent variables, along with their respective interaction with adaptive control, the extra energy consumed by the motors caused by adaptive control increasing feed rate outweighed the lesser amount of energy consumed due to the shortened cycle time. Fortunately, the interaction with the other key variables makes it an efficient energy reducing measure regardless.

What becomes important then is to understand how adaptive control combines with the other key variables that influence energy. This was done by adding an interaction component to

96

the regression modeling and by evaluating average energy used scores by varying levels of these interaction terms. The results show that among all the other key variables (spindle speed, feed rate, depth of cut, coolant temperature, and flow volume) there was a statistically significant interaction with adaptive control. The significant interaction terms mean that the combination of the variables can be worked together to explain variation in energy used. The interaction term was calculated simply by multiplying the variables together. The interaction term for depth of cut, coolant temperature and coolant volume were calculated differently since the value is set to "high" for standard runs, and "low" for test runs of these variables. Since the interaction terms with the key variables were statistically significant, the average energy used scores were evaluated and tested across the three groups defined above and were all found to be significant.

Although all the key variables had significant differences, significant correlations, etc., when reviewing the results we can see which of the key variables show the largest differences /strongest correlation to energy. In the table below, results of the t-tests when each of the significant key variables was tested against its respective counterpart are shown.

Table 18

							When AC
	Changing	Changing		Changing	Changing		on (in
	Spindle	Feed	Changing	Coolant	Coolant	When AC	isolated
Change in Power	Speed to	Rate to	Depth of	Temperature	Volume to	On (across	Program A
Used	High	High	Cut to Low	to Low	Low	all runs)	runs)
	110.3	2.3	-187.8	-234.8	-245.9	37.9	-73.0
t-value	-5.7	-0.2	12.1	17.8	18.1	1.5	4.2
sig	<.000	0.9	<.000	<.000	<.000	0.143	<.000
0.		No				Increases	
	significantly	change in	significantly	significantly	significantly	power used,	significantly
	increases	power	decreases	decreases	decreases	but not	decreases
	power used	used	power used	power used	power used	significantly	power used

Strongest Correlation to "Energy Used" by Variable

97

It can be seen above that varying coolant temperature and coolant volume greatly impacts the amount of energy used (the "energy used" means were lower by 235 and 246 respectively suggesting these two variables most highly impact energy used. Additionally, their correlations are strongest to energy used, as shown below:

Table 19

Correlation of Coolant Temperature and Coolant Volume to "Energy Used"

Correlation with power used:	Isolated	correlation	bety	ween
	standard	program	and	test
	program (n=100)		
Coolant Temp	.874			
Coolant Volume	.878			

Implications for Practitioners

The above discussed research findings should result in keen interest by practitioners. As presented in Chapter 1 and Chapter 2, manufacturing is an extremely important economic sector to any country. Manufacturers in the US and many other countries are investigating ways to not only lower their manufacturing costs in order to be more competitive or to increase their profitability, but they are also beginning to investigate ways to lower their carbon footprint and become more "green". Reducing the amount of energy consumed by machine tools can be a significant enabler to accomplishing both. At the specific plant where this study was conducted, the approximate amount of energy consumed by machine tools during the year of the study was estimated to be 9,894,635 kwh at a cost of \$688,331. Assuming the same 18.3% reduction of energy derived from using adaptive control that was found in the study could be achieved on all machine tools in the plant, the company could realize an annual savings on their energy bill of approximately \$126,000. Using the "Greenhouse Gas Equivalencies Calculator" found on the

EPS's website, the same 18.3% reduction applied to the total amount of 9,894,635 kwh the plant used in 2012 would result in a reduction of 1,278 metric tons of carbon dioxide equivalent (Greenhouse Gas Equivalencies Calculator, 2013).

Unfortunately, the above described savings make it hard to justify the cost of installing requisite adaptive control modules on each machine. The cost of the unit used for the study was approximately \$10,000. Based on projected machine usage provided by the plant, it would take approximately five years before the investment would pay for itself in energy savings. Such a "Return on Investment" ("ROI") time frame would be very difficult to justify. Market research would need to support the required investment through increased sales of product due to the "greener" moniker that could be offered.

Although not part of the research study as designed, it is worth mentioning that all of the 300 parts machined in this study passed 100% of the quality inspections performed on standard production parts and were utilized in subsequent downstream production. Practitioners should take note that the employment of adaptive control did not adversely affect the quality of the resulting machined part in any way.

Limitations of the Study

As mentioned in Chapter 1, the environment for this study was a specific machine tool that was machining a specific material to a specific shape using a specific cutting tool insert. Accordingly, the results of this study may not be generalizable to all machine tools. However, this study should serve as a stepping stone for further research into other machine tools to determine if more generalizable patterns exist.

Recommendations for Future Research

The findings of this research study, although significant on their own, need further validation. Replication studies should be undertaken. Additionally, in order to address the above mentioned limitations to the study, additional research should be undertaken varying the type of material, the type of machine tool, the type of cutting insert, etc., to determine if the results of this study are indeed potentially generalizable across varying environments.

Conclusions

This study provided a comprehensive and robust look at energy used by evaluating several potential measures in a structured and reliable manner. It focused on a number of variables, most of which had a significant impact on energy used. The effect on energy was evaluated by t-tests on group differences and correlations for pattern similarities. The analyses complemented each other by providing consistent results. Key variables to "energy used" were found to be adaptive control, spindle speed, depth of cut, coolant temperature, and coolant flow volume. The combination of key variables (adaptive control's interaction with the other key variables) further increased the understanding and ability to capitalize on efficiency by providing a pathway to reducing energy used.

Although adaptive control is a technology that has been researched for many years, this study is the first time adaptive control has been investigated as a potential technology to be used to reduce the amount of energy consumed by machine tools used in manufacturing. Combined with the other influencing variables investigated in this study, adaptive control has been found to be a key technology that manufacturers who are interested in reducing costs and reducing energy, in order to reduce their carbon footprint and become more competitive, should seriously evaluate.

Summary

Chapter 1 provided the background, problem statement, need for the study, purpose of the study, and the proposed research questions that the study would address. Proposed hypotheses, assumptions of the study, limitations of the study, and the significance of the study were also discussed. Lastly, the organization of the study and the definition of key terms were detailed.

The second chapter reviewed the literature pertaining to sustainable manufacturing, the background of machine tools and computer numerical control, and the history of adaptive control technology relating to machine tools.

The third chapter presented the method of data collection, a description of the sample to be collected, proposed research questions and hypotheses, and lastly a summary describing the methodology of how the hypotheses would be tested.

Chapter 4 provided a description of the data collected, descriptive statistics, and the various analytical procedures followed to statistically investigate the hypotheses presented. It concluded with a presentation of the results of the analysis.

Lastly, this fifth and final chapter presented a brief review of the purpose of the study as well as a discussion of the findings from the previous chapter. Additionally, implications for practitioners were offered, limitations of the study were addressed, and recommendations for future research were posited. Finally, an overall conclusion was made to summarize the project.

REFERENCES

Ahmed, N. U., Montagno, R. V., & Firenze, R. J. (1998). Organizational performance and environmental consciousness: an empirical study. *Management Decision*, *36*(2), 57-62.

Arnold, H. (2001, November). The recent history of the machine tool industry and the effects of technological change. Retrieved from http://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=1&ved=0CCIQFj AA&url=http%3A%2F%2Fciteseerx.ist.psu.edu%2Fviewdoc%2Fdownload%3Fdoi%3D 10.1.1.119.2125%26rep%3Drep1%26type%3Dpdf&ei=8NM8UOfPAYne8ASp24HgAw &usg=AFQjCNGkJCOmjOXUgpocwGofBF21awp0rg

Arnone, M. (1998). High performance machining. Cincinnati, OH: Hanser Gardner Publications.

- Bansal, P. (2005). Evolving sustainably; A longitudinal study of corporate sustainable development. *Strategic Management Journal*, 26(3), 197-218.
- Beddoes, J., & Bibby, M. J. (1999). Principles of metal manufacturing processes. Burlington,MA: Butterworth-Heinemann.
- Bouman, M., Heijungs, R., Van Der Voet, E., Van Den Bergh, J., & Huppes, G. (2000). Material flows and economic models: an analytical comparison of SFA, LCA and partial equilibrium models. *Ecological Economics*, *32*(2), 195-216.
- Bray, D. (2002). Ingersoll milling machine company: Octahedral hexapod design promises enhanced machine Performance. Retrieved from http://www.atp.nist.gov/eao/sp950-3/immc.pdf

Chang, T., Wysk, R. A., & Wang, H. (2005). Computer-aided manufacturing. Prentice Hall.

- Chapman, W. (1972). *Workshop technology part1*. Burlington, MA: Elsevier Butterworth-Heinemann.
- Chapman, W. (2004). *Guide to machining operations*. Cincinnati, OH: Hanser Gardner Publications.
- Chen, M. (2006). The 2005 international workshop on sustainable manufacturing. *Journal of the Minerals, Metals and Materials Society*, *58*(2), 39-40.
- Climate change 2001: synthesis report. (2001). Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Retrieved from http://www.ipcc.ch/pdf/climate-changes-2001/synthesis-spm/synthesis-spm-en.pdf
- Climate change basics. (2012, June 14). US EPA. Overviews & Factsheets. Retrieved August 20, 2012, from. Retrieved from <u>http://epa.gov/climatechange/basics/</u>
- Colwel, L. V., Frederick, J. R., & Quackenbush, L. J. (1969). Research in support of numerical and adaptive control in manufacturing. Ann Arbor: University of Michigan. Institute of Science and Technology. Industrial Development Division.
- Cooper, J. S. (n.d.). *Design for environment lab: Materials flow analysis*. Retrieved from http://faculty.washington.edu/cooperjs/Definitions/materials_flow_analysis.htm
- Davim, J. P. (Ed.). (2008). *Machining: Fundamentals and recent advances*. London, United Kingdom: Springer-Verlag London Limited.
- Develop green manufacturing skills that get real bottom line results. (2012). Purdue University. Retrieved from http://www.greenmanufacturing.purdue.edu/
- Drozda, T. J., & Wick, C. (Eds.). (1983). Tool and manufacturing engineers handbook: A reference book for manufacturing engineers, managers, and technicians. Dearborn, Mich.: Society of Manufacturing Engineers.

Energy-related carbon emissions in manufacturing. (2000, May 31). US Energy Information Administration. Retrieved from

http://www.eia.gov/emeu/efficiency/carbon_emissions/carbon_mfg.html

- Facts about manufacturing. (n.d.). National Association of Manufacturers. Retrieved from http://www.nam.org/Statistics-And-Data/Facts-About-Manufacturing/Landing.aspx
- Fiksel, J. (1995). Design for Environment: Creating Eco-Efficient Products and Processes (J.Fiksel, ed.). (70th ed.). McGraw-Hill Professional Publishing.
- Freeman, P. K. (1994). Integrating environmental risk into corporate strategy. *Risk Management*, *41*(7), 54-61.
- Frosch, R. A. (1995). Industrial ecology: adapting technology for a sustainable world. *Environment*, *37*(10), 16.
- Greenhouse Gas Equivalencies Calculator (2013, March 11). US Environmental Protection Agency. Retrieved from

http://www.epa.gov/cleanenergy/energy-resources/calculator.html

- Groover, M. P. (2001). Automation, production systems, and computer-integrated manufacturing. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice-Hall, Inc.
- Groover, M. P., & Zimmers, E. W. (1984). *CAD/CAM: Computer-aided design and manufacturing*. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice Hall, Inc.
- Gungor, A., & Gupta, S. M. (1999). *Issues in environmentally conscious manufacturing and product recovery: A survey* (pp. 811-853). Computers & Industrial Engineering, 36.
- Gupta, S. M., & Lambert, A. (Eds.). (2008). *Environment conscious manufacturing*. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press.

- Gutowski, T.G., Murphy, C. F., Allen, D. T., Bauer, D. J., Bras, B., Piwonka, T. S., & Sheng, P. S., Sutherland, J. W., Thurston, D. L., Wolff, E. E. (2001). In G. M. Holdridge (Series Ed.), *WTEC panel report on environmentally benign manufacturing*. Baltimore, Maryland: International Technology Research Institute. Retrieved from http://www.wtec.org/loyola/ebm/
- Hart, S. L. (1995). A natural-resource-based view of the firm. *The Academy of Management Review*, 20(4), 986-1014.

Hitomi, K. (1996). Manufacturing system engineering. Bristol, PA: Taylor & Francis Ltd.

Holdren, J. P., & Lander, E. (Comps.) and (eds.). (2012, July). Capturing domestic competitive advantage in advanced manufacturing. The White House. Retrieved from http://www.whitehouse.gov/sites/default/files/microsites/ostp/pcast_amp_steering_comm ittee_report_final_july_17_2012.pdf

How does Commerce define sustainable manufacturing? (n.d.). International Trade Administration. Retrieved from http://www.trade.gov/competitiveness/sustainablemanufacturing/how doc defines SM.a

sp

- Hunkeler, D., & Rebitzer, G. (2005). The future of life cycle assessment. *The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment*, *10*(5), 305-308.
- Jain, L. C., & de Silva, C. W. (1999). *Intelligent adaptive control*. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press LLC.

- Jovane, F., Yoshikawa, H., Alting, L., Boer, C. R., Westkamper, E., Williams, D., & Tseng, M., Seliger, G., Paci, A.M. (2008). *The incoming global technological and industrial revolution towards competitive sustainable manufacturing* (pp. 641-659). CIRP Annals-Manufacturing Technology, 57.
- Judge, W. Q., & Krishnan, H. (1994). An empirical investigation of the scope of a firm's enterprise Strategy. *Business & Society*, *33*(2), 167-190.
- Kalpakjian, S., & Schmid, S. (2007). *Manufacturing processes for engineering materials*. Prentice Hall.
- Kim, B. R., Kalis, E. M., & Adams, J. A. (2001). Integrated emissions management for automotive painting operations. *Pure and Applied Chemistry*, 73(8), 1277-1280.
- Klassen, R. D., & Whybark, D. C. (1999). The impact of environmental technologies on manufacturing performance. *Academy of Management Journal*, *42*(6), 599-615.
- Krar, S., & Gill, A. (2003). Exploring advanced manufacturing technologies. New York, NY: Industrial Press, Inc.
- Krishnan, N., Boyd, S., Somani, A., Raoux, S., Clark, D., & Dornfeld, D. (2008). A hybrid life cycle inventory of nano-scale semiconductor manufacturing. *Environmental Science and Technology*, 42(8), 3069-3075.

Lovric, M., Ed. (2010). International Encyclopedia of Statistical Science. New York: Springer. Luggen, W. W. (1996). *CNC: A first look primer*. Albany, NY: Delmar.

- MacLean, H. L., & Lave, L. B. (1998). A life-cycle model of an automobile. *Environmental Science and Technology News*, *32*(13), 322-330.
- Madu, C. N. (Ed.). (2001). *Handbook of Environmentally Conscious Manufacturing* (1st ed., p. 6). New York: Springer.
- McMahon, C., & Browne, J. (1998). *CAD-CAM: Principles, practice and manufacturing management*. Prentice Hall.
- Narayan, K. L., Rao, K. M., & Sarcar, M. M. M. (2008). *Computer aided design and manufacturing*. New Delhi: Prentice-Hall of India.
- Nazaroff, W. W., & Alvarez-Cohen, L. (2001). *Environmental engineering science*. New York: John Wiley & Sons.
- Park, S. H., & Labys, W. C. (1999). Industrial Development and Environmental Degradation: A Source Book on the Origins of Global Pollution. Edward Elgar Pub.

Pasko, R., Przybylski, L., & Slodki, B. (2005, June 28). *High speed machining: The effective way of modern cutting*. Retrieved from http://www.virtual.unal.edu.co/cursos/ingenieria/mecatronica/docs_curso/Anexos/TUTO RIALcnc/DOCUMENTOS/TEORIA/HSM.pdf

- Porter, M., & van der Linde, C. (1995). Green and competitive: ending the stalemate. *Harvard business review*, 73(5), 120-134.
- Rahiimiifard, S. (2007, November). *Environmental impacts of manufacturing*. Retrieved from http://ftp.cordis.europa.eu/pub/ims/docs/1-11-rahimifard.pdf
- Ramaswami, A., Milford, J. B., & Small, M. J. (2005). *Integrated environmental modeling: Pollutant transport, fate, and risk in the environment*. New Jersey: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Richter, A. (2009, July). *Power down* (Volume 61, Issue 7 ed.). Cutting Tool Engineering. Retrieved from <u>http://www.ctemag.com/aa_pages/2009/0907_GreenMachining.html</u>

- Rusinko, C. A. (2007). Green manufacturing: an evaluation of environmentally sustainable manufacturing practices and their impact on competitive outcomes. *IEEE transactions on engineering management*, *54*(3), 445-454.
- Schmidt, R. (1988). Civil and military R&D spending: The case of numerically controlled machine tools. Retrieved from http://www.dtic.mil/cgibin/GetTRDoc?Location=U2&doc=GetTRDoc.pdf&AD=ADA216961
- Seidel, R., Shahbazpour, M., Seidel, M. (2007). "Establishing sustainable manufacturing practices in SMEs", Proceedings of the 2nd International Conference on Sustainability Engineering and Science, Auckland, New Zealand, February 20-23.

Smid, P. (2003). CNC programming handbook. New York, New York: Industrial Press, Inc.

- Socolof, M. L., Overly, J. G., & Geibig, J. R. (2005). Environmental life-cycle impacts of CRT and LCD desktop computer displays. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, *13*(13), 1281-1294.
- Tanner, J. P. (1985). Manufacturing engineering: An introduction to the basic functions. New York: Marcel Dekker Inc.
- The lean and the environment toolkit. (2011, November). US Environmental Protection Agency. Retrieved from <u>http://www.epa.gov/lean/environment/toolkits/environment/</u>
- Ulmer, J., & Ollison, T. (2008). Alternative Energy Choices, Conservation, and Management: A Primer for Advanced Manufacturing Managers. The International Journal of Applied Management and Technology, 6(3), 5-19.
- United Nations framework convention on climate change. (1992). United Nations. Retrieved from http://unfccc.int/resource/docs/convkp/conveng.pdf
- What are greenhouse gases? (2004, April 2). Energy Information Administration. Retrieved from http://(http://www.eia.gov/oiaf/1605/ggccebro/chapter1.html

- World commission on environment and development. (1987). *Our common future*. Oxford University Press, USA.
- Young, D., Scharp, R., & Cabezas, H. (2000). The waste reduction (*WAR*) algorithm: environmental impacts, energy consumption, and engineering economics. *Waste Management*, 20, 605-615.
- Youssef, H. A., & El-Hofy, H. (2008). *Machining technology: Machine tools and operations*. Boca Raton, FL: Taylor & Francis Group, LLC.

APPENDIXES

APPENDIX A

CORRELATION ANALYSIS

	Among Total (n=300	Sample))	Isloated c between program program	correlation standard and test (n=100)
Power Used	r	p-value	r	p-value
Spindle Speed	.593	< .000	.477	< .000
Feed Rate	.278	< .000	.016	.878
Depth of Cut	.278	< .000	.774	< .000
Coolant Temp	.416	< .000	.874	< .000
Coolant Volume	.448	< .000	.878	< .000
Adaptive Control	239	< .000		
Tool Condition	052	.366		

<u>Total</u>

Correlations

		Power Used	Adaptive Control	Tool Condition
Power Used	Pearson Correlation	1	239	052
	Sig. (2-tailed)		.000	.366
	Ν	300	300	300
Adaptive Control	Pearson Correlation	239	1	.067
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000		.250
	Ν	300	300	300
Tool Condition	Pearson Correlation	052	.067	1
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.366	.250	
	Ν	300	300	300

Program A and Program B

	Corre	lations				
		Power Used	Adaptive Control	Tool Condition	Spindle Speed	AC Spindle Interaction
Power Used	Pearson Correlation	1	366	165	.477	046
	Sig. (2-tailed)		.000	.100	.000	.653
	Ν	100	100	100	100	100
Adaptive Control	Pearson Correlation	366	1	.040	.000	.688
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000		.693	1.000	.000
	Ν	100	100	100	100	100
Tool Condition	Pearson Correlation	165	.040	1	.000	.046
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.100	.693		1.000	.650
	Ν	100	100	100	100	100
Spindle Speed	Pearson Correlation	.477	.000	.000	1	.688
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000	1.000	1.000		.000
	Ν	100	100	100	100	100
AC Spindle Interaction	Pearson Correlation	046	.688	.046	.688	1
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.653	.000	.650	.000	
	Ν	100	100	100	100	100

Program A and Program C

Correlations											
		Power Used	Adaptive Control	Tool Condition	Feed Rate	AC Feed Rate interaction					
Power Used	Pearson Correlation	1	150	086	.016	184					
	Sig. (2-tailed)		.137	.397	.878	.066					
	Ν	100	100	100	100	100					
Adaptive Control	Pearson Correlation	150	1	040	.000	.688					
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.137		.693	1.000	.000					
	Ν	100	100	100	100	100					
Tool Condition	Pearson Correlation	086	040	1	.000	028					
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.397	.693		1.000	.786					
	Ν	100	100	100	100	100					
Feed Rate	Pearson Correlation	.016	.000	.000	1	.688					
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.878	1.000	1.000		.000					
	Ν	100	100	100	100	100					
AC Feed Rate interaction	Pearson Correlation	184	.688	028	.688	1					
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.066	.000	.786	.000						
	Ν	100	100	100	100	100					

Program A and Program D

and a second and a second a se	Corre	lations				
		Power Used	Adaptive Control	Tool Condition	Depth of Cut	AC Depth of Cut Interaction
Power Used	Pearson Correlation	1	116	058	.774	.516
	Sig. (2-tailed)		.252	.565	.000	.000
	Ν	100	100	100	100	100
Adaptive Control	Pearson Correlation	116	1	.000	.000	.688
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.252		1.000	1.000	.000
	Ν	100	100	100	100	100
Tool Condition	Pearson Correlation	058	.000	1	.000	009
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.565	1.000		1.000	.928
	Ν	100	100	100	100	100
Depth of Cut	Pearson Correlation	.774	.000	.000	1	.688
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000	1.000	1.000		.000
	Ν	100	100	100	100	100
Depth of Cut Interaction	Pearson Correlation	.516	.688	009	.688	1
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000	.000	.928	.000	
	Ν	100	100	100	100	100

Program A and Program E

Correlations											
		Power Used	Adaptive Control	Tool Condition	Coolant Temp	AC Coolant Temp interaction					
Power Used	Pearson Correlation	1	005	045	.874	.632					
	Sig. (2-tailed)		.964	.658	.000	.000					
	Ν	100	100	100	100	100					
Adaptive Control	Pearson Correlation	005	1	120	.000	.688					
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.964		.234	1.000	.000					
	Ν	100	100	100	100	100					
Tool Condition	Pearson Correlation	045	120	1	.000	064					
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.658	.234		1.000	.525					
	Ν	100	100	100	100	100					
Coolant Temp	Pearson Correlation	.874	.000	.000	1	.688					
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000	1.000	1.000		.000					
	Ν	100	100	100	100	100					
AC Coolant Temp interaction	Pearson Correlation	.632	.688	064	.688	1					
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000	.000	.525	.000						
	Ν	100	100	100	100	100					

Program A and Program F

	Corre	lations				
		Power Used	Adaptive Control	Tool Condition	Coolant Volume	AC Coolant Temp interaction
Power Used	Pearson Correlation	1	025	119	.878	025
	Sig. (2-tailed)		.808	.240	.000	.808
	Ν	100	100	100	100	100
Adaptive Control	Pearson Correlation	025	1	.240	.000	1.000
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.808		.016	1.000	.000
	Ν	100	100	100	100	100
Tool Condition	Pearson Correlation	119	.240	1	.000	.240
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.240	.016		1.000	.016
	Ν	100	100	100	100	100
Coolant Volume	Pearson Correlation	.878	.000	.000	1	.000
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000	1.000	1.000		1.000
	Ν	100	100	100	100	100
AC Coolant Temp interaction	Pearson Correlation	025	1.000	.240	.000	1
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.808	.000	.016	1.000	
	Ν	100	100	100	100	100

APPENDIX B

REGRESSION ANALYSIS

Model 1 - Spindle Speed, Adaptive Control, Tool Condition

Model Summary

Model									
					Change Statistics				
			Adjusted		R				
		R	R	Std. Error of	Square	F			Sig. F
	R	Square	Square	the Estimate	Change	Change	df1	df2	Change
1	.809	.655	.640	69.71	.655	45.052	4	95	.000

ANOVA

Model		Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.
1	Regression	875657.1	4	218914.3	45.052	.000
	Residual	461618.6	95	4859.1		
	Total	1337275.7	99			

Model	Model		Unstandardized Coefficients			
		В	Std. Error	Beta	t	Sig.
1	(Constant)	-36.667	74.121		495	.622
	Spindle Speed	472 200	44 215	2 042	10 680	000
	Adaptive Control	278 140	44 176	1 203	6 296	000
		270.140	40.000	1.205	4.000	.000
	I OOI Condition	-23.229	13.998	109	-1.602	.075
	AC Spindle Interaction	-241.254	27.973	-2.273	-8.625	.000

Model 2 - Feed Rate, Adaptive Control, Tool Condition

Model Summary

Model									
						Cha	nge Statis	tics	
			Adjusted		R				
		R	R	Std. Error of	Square	F			Sig. F
	R	Square	Square	the Estimate	Change	Change	df1	df2	Change
1	.439	.193	.159	69.23	.193	5.665	4	95	.000

ANOVA

Model		Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.
1	Regression	108592.3	4	27148.1	5.665	.000
	Residual	455265.3	95	4792.3		
	Total	563857.7	99			

e como londo										
Model	del		Unstandardized Coefficients							
		В	Std. Error	Beta	t	Sig.				
1	(Constant)	234.265	72.522		3.230	.002				
	Feed Rate	183.419	43.782	1.221	4.189	.000				
	Adaptive Control	158.069	43.786	1.053	3.610	.000				
	Tool Condition	-13.787	13.856	092	995	.322				
	AC Feed Rate interaction	-120.726	27.690	-1.752	-4.360	.000				

Model 3 – Depth of Cut, Adaptive Control, Tool Condition

Model							6001272 2020 ·		
					Change Statistics				<i>V</i> 4
			Adjusted		R				
		R	R	Std. Error of	Square	F			Sig. F
	R	Square	Square	the Estimate	Change	Change	df1	df2	Change
1	.830	.689	.676	69.44	.689	52.534	4	95	.000

ANOVA

Model		Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.
1	Regression	1013217.8	4	253304.4	52.534	.000
	Residual	458061.7	95	4821.7		
	Total	1471279.5	99			

	oocincienta										
Model		Unstandardized Coefficients		Standardized Coefficients							
		В	Std. Error	Beta	t	Sig.					
1	(Constant)	431.325	71.821		6.006	.000					
	Depth of Cut	-8.592	43.948	035	196	.845					
	Adaptive Control	168.356	43.948	.694	3.831	.000					
	Tool Condition	-11.516	13.899	047	829	.409					
	AC Depth of Cut Interaction	-130.922	27.798	-1.176	-4.710	.000					

Model 4 – Coolant Temperature, Adaptive Control, Tool Condition

Model Summary

Model						Cha	ngo Static	tics	
						Ulla	nge Statis		
			Adjusted		R				
		R	R	Std. Error of	Square	F			Sig. F
	R	Square	Square	the Estimate	Change	Change	df1	df2	Change
1	.888	.788	.779	63.52	.788	88.169	4	95	.000

ANOVA

Model		Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.
1	Regression	1423090.6	4	355772.6	88.169	.000
	Residual	383335.4	95	4035.1		
	Total	1806426.0	99			

	Coemcients									
Model		Unstandardized Coefficients		Standardized Coefficients						
		В	Std. Error	Beta	t	Sig.				
1	(Constant)	193.066	68.710		2.810	.006				
	Coolant Temp	113.766	40.293	.423	2.823	.006				
	Adaptive Control	117.989	40.205	.439	2.935	.004				
	Tool Condition	-15.655	12.839	058	-1.219	.226				
	AC Coolant Temp interaction	-80.720	25.492	654	-3.167	.002				

Model 5 – Coolant Flow Volume, Adaptive Control, Tool Condition

Model Summary

Model						Cha	nge Statis	tics	
		P	Adjusted	Std Error of	R	E			Sig E
	R	Square	Square	the Estimate	Change	Change	df1	df2	Change
1	.895	.802	.793	64.02	.802	95.956	4	95	.000

ANOVA

Model		Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.
1	Regression	1573348.9	4	393337.2	95.956	.000
	Residual	389416.7	95	4099.1		
	Total	1962765.6	99			

Model						
		Unstandardized Coefficients		Standardized Coefficients		
		в	Std. Error	Beta	t	Sig.
1	(Constant)	170.544	64.046		2.663	.009
	Coolant Volume	130.000	42.114	.464	3.087	.003
	Adaptive Control	114.272	41.328	.408	2.765	.007
	Tool Condition	-22.030	13.776	079	-1.599	.113
	AC Coolant Volume Interaction	-77.258	26.746	601	-2.889	.005

APPENDIX C

ANOVA ANALYSIS

Interaction between Adaptive Control and Spindle Speed

ANOVA

Power Used									
	Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.				
Between Groups	384218.2	2	192109.10	19.552	.000				
Within Groups	953057.5	97	9825.34						
Total	1337275.7	99							

Dependent Variable:PowerU	sed Power Used						
	(I) acspindle AC	(J) acspindle AC	Maan			95% Confide	nce Interval
		action Spindle Interaction Mean Difference (I-J) Sto		Std. Error	Sig.	Lower Bound	Upper Bound
LSD	1.00	2.00	-135.4	24.3	.000	-183.62	-87.24
		4.00	-25.6	28.0	.364	-81.21	30.07
	2.00	1.00	135.4	24.3	.000	87.24	183.62
		4.00	109.9	24.3	.000	61.67	158.05
	4.00	1.00	25.6	28.0	.364	-30.07	81.21
		2.00	-109.9	24.3	.000	-158.05	-61.67

Interaction between Adaptive Control and Feed Rate

ANOVA

Power Used					
	Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.
Between Groups	96160.862	2	48080.431	9.972	.000
Within Groups	467696.814	97	4821.617		
Total	563857.676	99			

Dependent Variable:PowerU	sed Power Used						
	(I) acfeed AC Feed	(J) acfeed AC Feed	Maan			95% Confide	ence Interval
	Nate Interaction		Difference (I-J)	Std. Error	Sig.	Lower Bound	Upper Bound
LSD	1.00	2.00	-50.3	17.0	.004	-84.05	-16.54
		4.00	20.1	19.6	.308	-18.84	59.12
	2.00	1.00	50.3	17.0	.004	16.54	84.05
		4.00	70.4	17.0	.000	36.67	104.19
	4.00	1.00	-20.1	19.6	.308	-59.12	18.84
		2.00	-70.4	17.0	.000	-104.19	-36.67

Interaction between Adaptive Control and Depth of Cut

ANOVA

Power Used					
	Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.
Between Groups	690851.1	2	345425.55	42.933	.000
Within Groups	780428.4	97	8045.65		
Total	1471279.5	99			

Multiple Comparisons

Dependent Vanabie.i Overo.	acu i owci oacu						
	(I) acdepth AC Depth of Cut Interaction	n AC Depth (J) acdepth AC eraction Depth of Cut				95% Confidence Interval	
	Interaction		Difference	Std Error	Sig	Lower	Upper Bound
LSD	1.00	2.00	42.0	22.0	.059	-1.62	85.59
		4.00	215.8	25.4	.000	165.46	266.17
	2.00	1.00	-42.0	22.0	.059	-85.59	1.62
		4.00	173.8	22.0	.000	130.22	217.44
	4.00	1.00	-215.8	25.4	.000	-266.17	-165.46
		2.00	-173.8	22.0	.000	-217.44	-130.22

Dependent Variable:PowerUsed Power Used

Interaction between Adaptive Control and Coolant Temperature

ANOVA

Power Used					
	Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	Ľ	Sig.
Between Groups	734783.2	2	367391.60	33.255	.000
Within Groups	1071642.8	97	11047.86		
Total	1806426.0	99			

Dependent Variable:PowerUs	sed Power Used						
	(I) accooltemp AC Coolant Temp interaction	(J) accooltemp AC Coolant Temp interaction	Mean Difference			95% Confide	ence Interval Upper
			(I-J)	Std. Error	Sig.	Bound	Bound
LSD	1.00	2.00	78.9	25.7	.003	27.82	130.02
		4.00	236.1	29.7	.000	177.05	295.06
	2.00	1.00	-78.9	25.7	.003	-130.02	-27.82
	2	4.00	157.1	25.7	.000	106.04	208.24
	4.00	1.00	-236.1	29.7	.000	-295.06	-177.05
		2.00	-157.1	25.7	.000	-208.24	-106.04

Interaction between Adaptive Control and Coolant Flow Volume

ANOVA

Power Used					
	Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.
Between Groups	848947.7	2	424473.85	36.967	.000
Within Groups	1113817.9	97	11482.66		
Total	1962765.6	99			

Dependent Variable:PowerUs	sed Power Used						
	(I) accoolvol AC	(J) accoolvol AC Coolant Volume Interaction	Maan			95% Confide	nce Interval
	Interaction		Difference (I-J)	Std. Error	Sig.	Lower Bound	Upper Bound
LSD	1.00	2.00	81.6	26.2	.002	29.50	133.69
		4.00	252.8	30.3	.000	192.63	312.94
	2.00	1.00	-81.6	26.2	.002	-133.69	-29.50
		4.00	171.2	26.2	.000	119.10	223.29
	4.00	1.00	-252.8	30.3	.000	-312.94	-192.63
		2.00	-171.2	26.2	.000	-223.29	-119.10

APPENDIX D

DATA

	Power	Adaptive	Tool		Spindle	Feed	Depth	Coolant	Coolant
ID	Used	Control	Condition	Program	Speed	Rate	of Cut	Temp	Volume
A01	320.5	1	1	А	1	1	2	2	2
A02	354.7	1	1	А	1	1	2	2	2
A03	327.7	2	2	А	1	1	2	2	2
A04	363.4	1	2	А	1	1	2	2	2
A05	328.4	2	2	А	1	1	2	2	2
A06	368.8	1	2	А	1	1	2	2	2
A07	328.5	2	1	А	1	1	2	2	2
A08	381.7	1	1	А	1	1	2	2	2
A09	336.8	2	1	А	1	1	2	2	2
A10	399.6	1	1	А	1	1	2	2	2
A11	343.0	2	1	А	1	1	2	2	2
A12	428.9	1	2	А	1	1	2	2	2
A13	352.8	2	1	А	1	1	2	2	2
A14	433.8	1	2	А	1	1	2	2	2
A15	358.3	2	2	А	1	1	2	2	2
A16	438.4	1	2	А	1	1	2	2	2
A17	364.4	2	1	А	1	1	2	2	2
A18	451.0	1	1	А	1	1	2	2	2
A19	376.4	2	2	А	1	1	2	2	2
A20	458.2	1	2	А	1	1	2	2	2
A21	381.6	2	1	А	1	1	2	2	2
A22	464.7	1	2	А	1	1	2	2	2
A23	390.7	2	1	А	1	1	2	2	2
A24	472.9	1	2	А	1	1	2	2	2
A25	404.5	2	2	А	1	1	2	2	2
A26	474.7	1	1	А	1	1	2	2	2
A27	413.0	2	1	А	1	1	2	2	2
A28	476.2	1	2	A	1	1	2	2	2
A29	416.9	2	1	A	1	1	2	2	2
A30	482.5	1	1	А	1	1	2	2	2
A31	419.4	2	2	A	1	1	2	2	2
A32	483.9	1	1	Α	1	1	2	2	2
A33	422.2	2	2	А	1	1	2	2	2
A34	494.5	1	1	A	1	1	2	2	2
A35	476.8	2	ī	A	1	1	2	2	2
A36	502.8	1	1	A	1	1	2	2	2
A37	495.2	2	1	Α	1	1	2	2	2
A38	507.1	1	2	A	1	1	2	2	2
A39	496.6	2	2	A	1	1	2	2	2
A40	561.0	1	1	Α	1	1	2	2	2
A41	513.7	- 2	1	A	1	1	2	2	2
Δ42	567.3	1	- 2	Δ	1	ī	2	2	2
A43	534.2	- 2	2	A	1	1	2	2	2
A44	631.8	1	1	A	1	1	2	2	2
Δ45	549.6	- 2	- 2	Δ	1	1	- 2	- 2	- 2
Δ46	634 6	-	2	Δ	1	1	2	2	2
A47	583.2	2	1	Δ	1	1	2	2	2
A48	646 1	-	2	Δ	-	1	2	2	2
A49	607.0	2	2	Δ	1	1	2	2	2
A50	630.9	2	2	A	-	1	2	2	2
				- 200	-	-	-		

	Power	Adaptive	Tool		Spindle	Feed	Depth	Coolant	Coolant
ID	Used	Control	Condition	Program	Speed	Rate	of Cut	Temp	Volume
B01	334.0	1	1	в	2	1	2	2	2
B02	610.4	2	2	в	2	1	2	2	2
B03	355.2	1	2	в	2	1	2	2	2
B04	617.3	2	2	в	2	1	2	2	2
B05	394.5	1	1	в	2	1	2	2	2
B06	617.9	2	1	в	2	1	2	2	2
B07	410.9	1	2	в	2	1	2	2	2
B08	621.5	2	2	в	2	1	2	2	2
B09	420.9	1	1	в	2	1	2	2	2
B10	623.0	2	1	в	2	1	2	2	2
B11	424.0	1	1	в	2	1	2	2	2
B12	639.3	2	1	в	2	1	2	2	2
B13	427.0	1	1	в	2	1	2	2	2
B14	640.8	2	1	в	2	1	2	2	2
B15	430.2	1	ī	B	2	1	2	- 2	2
B16	644.8	- 2	- 2	B	- 2	1	2	- 2	- 2
B17	430.8	1	2	в	2	1	2	2	2
B18	667.7	2	1	в	2	1	2	2	2
B10	452.2	1	1	в	2	1	2	2	2
820	402.2 667.6	2	2	B	2	1	2	2	2
B20	459.5	2	2	B	2	1	2	2	2
021	439.3 667 3	-	1	B	2	1	2	2	2
DZZ	460.0	2	1	D	2	1	2	2	2
DZ3	409.9	-		D	2	1	2	2	2
DZ4	470.0	2	1	D	2	1	2	2	2
BZ5	470.0	1	2	в	2	T	2	2	2
B26	6/1.8	2	1	В	2	1	2	2	2
BZ/	475.5	1	1	в	2	1	2	2	2
B28	675.1	2	1	В	2	T	2	2	2
B29	480.5	1	2	в	2	1	2	2	2
B30	6//.8	2	2	в	2	T	2	2	2
B31	481.3	1	1	в	2	1	2	2	2
B32	678.0	2	1	в	2	1	2	2	2
B33	481.5	1	2	в	2	1	2	2	2
B34	679.3	2	1	в	2	1	2	2	2
B35	486.6	1	1	В	2	1	2	2	2
B36	686.8	2	2	В	2	1	2	2	2
B37	503.1	1	2	в	2	1	2	2	2
B38	691.4	2	2	В	2	1	2	2	2
B39	507.6	1	2	в	2	1	2	2	2
B40	693.8	2	2	В	2	1	2	2	2
B41	516.8	1	2	в	2	1	2	2	2
B42	699.1	2	2	в	2	1	2	2	2
B43	518.1	1	1	в	2	1	2	2	2
B44	699.5	2	2	В	2	1	2	2	2
B45	519.3	1	1	В	2	1	2	2	2
B46	707.1	2	2	В	2	1	2	2	2
B47	519.6	1	2	В	2	1	2	2	2
B48	718.3	2	2	в	2	1	2	2	2
B49	522.4	1	2	В	2	1	2	2	2
B50	720.1	2	2	в	2	1	2	2	2

	Power	Adaptive	Tool		Spindle	Feed	Depth	Coolant	Coolant
ID	Used	Control	Condition	Program	Speed	Rate	of Cut	Temp	Volume
C01	327.5	1	1	c	1	2	2	2	2
C02	428.8	2	1	С	1	2	2	2	2
C03	336.9	1	1	с	1	2	2	2	2
C04	434.7	2	1	С	1	2	2	2	2
C05	359.1	1	2	с	1	2	2	2	2
C06	434.7	2	1	c	1	2	2	2	2
C07	367.0	1	2	c	1	2	2	2	2
C08	434.8	2	2	c c	1	2	2	2	2
009	373 1	1	- 2	Č	1	2	- 2	- 2	- 2
C10	444 6	2	2	Č	1	2	2	2	- 2
C11	377.4	1	1	c	1		- 7	- 2	- 2
C12	466.1	2	2	c	1	2	2	2	2
C13	388.0	1	2	c	1	2	2	2	2
C14	478 5	2	1	c	1	2	2	2	2
C14	478.5	2		č	1	2	2	2	2
C15	404.2	-	-	c	± 1	2	2	2	2
C10	402.0	2	2	C	т 1	2	2	2	2
C19	404.4	-	4	C C	1. 1	2	2	2	2
C18	487.0	2	2	C C	T	2	2	2	2
C19	407.6	1	1	C	1	2	2	2	2
C20	487.1	2	2	C	1	2	2	2	2
C21	415.6	1	2	C	1	2	2	2	2
C22	487.4	2	1	C	1	2	2	2	2
C23	423.1	1	2	С	1	2	2	2	2
C24	492.1	2	2	С	1	2	2	2	2
C25	433.1	1	2	С	1	2	2	2	2
C26	503.1	2	2	С	1	2	2	2	2
C27	434.8	1	2	С	1	2	2	2	2
C28	505.5	2	1	С	1	2	2	2	2
C29	434.8	1	1	С	1	2	2	2	2
C30	507.2	2	2	С	1	2	2	2	2
C31	437.0	1	2	С	1	2	2	2	2
C32	518.2	2	1	С	1	2	2	2	2
C33	437.5	1	2	С	1	2	2	2	2
C34	518.3	2	1	С	1	2	2	2	2
C35	438.1	1	2	С	1	2	2	2	2
C36	518.4	2	1	С	1	2	2	2	2
C37	442.9	1	1	С	1	2	2	2	2
C38	521.5	2	2	С	1	2	2	2	2
C39	445.7	1	2	С	1	2	2	2	2
C40	538.2	2	1	С	1	2	2	2	2
C41	446.4	1	1	С	1	2	2	2	2
C42	540.8	2	2	С	1	2	2	2	2
C43	450.7	1	1	С	1	2	2	2	2
C44	541.2	2	2	С	1	2	2	2	2
C45	451.5	1	1	Ċ	1	2	2	2	2
C46	548.2	2	1	Ē	1	2	2	2	2
C47	454 6	1	- 2	Č	1	2	2	2	- 2
C48	548 5	2	1	č	- 1	2	2	2	2
C49	457 4	1	1	č	1	2	2	2	2
C50	551 2	- 7	1	č	1	2	2	2	2
00	221.2	4		~	1	2	4	4	4

	Power	Adaptive	Tool		Spindle	Feed	Depth	Coolant	Coolant
ID	Used	Control	Condition	Program	Speed	Rate	of Cut	Temp	Volume
D01	208.5	1	1	D	1	1	1	2	2
D02	243.9	2	1	D	1	1	1	2	2
D03	210.1	1	2	D	1	1	1	2	2
D04	245.6	2	2	D	1	1	1	2	2
D05	210.5	1	1	D	1	1	1	2	2
D06	246.4	2	1	D	1	1	1	2	2
D07	211.6	1	1	D	1	1	1	2	2
D08	246.7	2	1	D	1	1	1	2	2
D09	212.4	1	1	D	1	1	1	2	2
D10	247.3	2	1	D	1	1	1	2	2
D11	212.5	1	1	D	1	1	1	2	2
D12	247.9	2	2	D	1	1	1	2	2
D13	212.9	1	1	D	1	1	1	2	2
D14	249.3	2	2	D	1	1	1	2	2
D15	214.9	1	2	D	1	1	1	2	2
D16	251.2	2	2	D	1	1	1	2	2
D17	215.1	1	1	D	1	1	1	2	2
D18	260.0	2	2	D	1	1	1	2	2
D19	215.4	1	2	D	1	1	1	2	2
D20	312.1	2	1	D	1	1	1	2	2
D21	218.0	1	2	D	1	1	1	2	2
D22	313.9	2	1	D	1	1	1	2	2
D23	218.2	1	1	D	1	1	1	2	2
D24	317.0	2	2	D	1	1	1	2	2
D25	219.8	1	2	D	1	1	1	2	2
D26	318.2	2	2	D	1	1	1	2	2
D27	220.0	1	2	D	1	1	1	2	2
D28	319.7	2	2	D	1	1	1	2	2
D29	220.9	1	2	D	1	1	1	2	2
D30	328.8	2	2	D	1	1	1	2	2
D31	221.8	1	1	D	1	1	1	2	2
D32	333.7	2	1	D	1	1	1	2	2
D33	222.6	1	1	D	1	1	1	2	2
D34	339.4	- 2	2	D	1	1	1	2	2
D35	222.9	1	1	D	1	1	1	2	2
D36	341.9	- 2	1	D	1	1	1	2	2
D37	223.1	1	2	D	1	1	1	2	2
D38	346.3	2	2	D	-	1	1	2	2
D39	223.1	1	- 2	- D	1	1	1	- 2	2
D40	353.5	2	2	D	1	1	1	2	2
D41	223.2	1	2	D	1	-	1	2	2
D42	371.1	- 2	1	D	1	1	1	2	2
D43	274.4	1	1	D	1	1	1	2	2
D44	379 3	2	2	D D	1	1	1	2	2
D45	774 4	1	2	D D	1	1	1	2	2
D46	385 0	2	2	D D	1	1	1	2	2
D47	224 5	<u>د</u> 1	2	D D	1	1	1	2	2
D48	389.2	2	<u>-</u> 1	D D	1	1	1	2	2
D49	225.2	1	1	D D	1	1	1	2	2
D50	417 9	÷ 2	1	D D	1	1	1	2	2
000		4	8		- L	-	-	2	2

	Power	Adaptive	Tool		Spindle	Feed	Depth	Coolant	Coolant
ID	Used	Control	Condition	Program	Speed	Rate	of Cut	Temp	Volume
E01	187.1	1	1	Е	1	1	2	1	2
E02	234.2	2	1	E	1	1	2	1	2
E03	188.8	1	1	Е	1	1	2	1	2
E04	234.5	2	1	Е	1	1	2	1	2
E05	192.2	1	1	Е	1	1	2	1	2
E06	235.3	2	1	Е	1	1	2	1	2
E07	193.4	1	1	Е	1	1	2	1	2
E08	235.4	2	1	Е	1	1	2	1	2
E09	193.7	1	2	Е	1	1	2	1	2
E10	235.4	2	1	Е	1	1	2	1	2
E11	194.4	1	1	E	1	1	2	1	2
F12	235.4	2	7	E	1	1	2	1	2
E13	195.4	7	-	F	1	1	- 7	1	2
F14	235.6	2	7	F	1	1	2	1	2
E15	196.9	1	2	F	1	1	2	1	2
E15	725.0	-	2	E	1	1	2	÷.	2
E10 E17	233.5	2	2	E .	1	1	2	1	2
E17	197.0	4	2	5	4	1	2	-5 7	2
E10	255.9	2	1	с г	1	1	2	1	2
E19	198.0	1	2	E	1	1	2	1	2
EZU	235.9	2	Z	E	T	T	2	1 a	2
EZI	198.2	1	2	E	1	1	2	1	2
E22	236.2	2	2	E	1	1	2	1	2
E23	199.2	1	1	E	1	1	2	1	2
E24	236.4	2	2	E	1	1	2	1	2
E25	200.2	1	1	E	1	1	2	1	2
E26	236.4	2	1	E	1	1	2	1	2
E27	200.3	1	2	E	1	1	2	1	2
E28	237.5	2	2	E	1	1	2	1	2
E29	200.3	1	2	E	1	1	2	1	2
E30	238.2	2	2	E	1	1	2	1	2
E31	200.7	1	1	E	1	1	2	1	2
E32	238.6	2	2	E	1	1	2	1	2
E33	200.9	1	2	E	1	1	2	1	2
E34	239.0	2	2	E	1	1	2	1	2
E35	200.9	1	2	E	1	1	2	1	2
E36	239.2	2	1	Е	1	1	2	1	2
E37	200.9	1	2	Е	1	1	2	1	2
E38	239.6	2	1	E	1	1	2	1	2
E39	201.1	1	2	Е	1	1	2	1	2
E40	239.9	2	1	Е	1	1	2	1	2
E41	201.2	1	2	Е	1	1	2	1	2
F42	240.6	2	1	F	1	1	2	1	2
F43	201.3	1	- 7	F	1	1	2	1	- 2
F44	241 5		1	F	1	1	2	î	2
E45	207 3	1	1	F	1	1	2	1	2
E46	744 6	- 7	1	F	1	1	2	1	2
E40	277.0	ے 1	-	F	1	1	2	1	2
E47	202.5	7	ے 1	F	1	1	2	1	2 7
E40	240.9	1	- -	E	1	1	2	1	∠ ว
E49	202.7	1	Z 1	с г	1	1	2	1	2
ESU	250.1	2	с .	E	T	T	2	T.	2